
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Budget and Performance Committee 

Date Thursday 11 July 2019 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman) 
Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair) 
Sian Berry AM 
Unmesh Desai AM 

Florence Eshalomi AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chairman of the Committee to deal with the 

business listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Wednesday 3 July 2019 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5525;  
Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 
 
For media enquiries please contact Aoife Nolan; External Communications Officer; 
Telephone: 020 7983 4067; Email: aoife.nolan@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about 
individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:Aoife.Nolan@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Budget and Performance Committee 
Thursday 11 July 2019 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chairman.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  
 
(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 
(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 
Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 
action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 

 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 78) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meetings of the 

Budget and Performance Committee held on 21 May 2019 and 11 June 2019 to be 

signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 44 and 49 to 78 are attached for Members 
and officers only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance  
 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 79 - 80) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  David Pealing; david.pealing@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 5525 
 
The Committee is recommended to note the outstanding actions arising from 

previous meetings of the Committee. 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance
mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

5 TfL Capital Projects Delivery (Pages 81 - 82) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Gino Brand, gino.brand@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5792 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the report as background to putting 

questions to guests from Transport for London (TfL) on delivery of the TfL capital 

programme, and note the subsequent discussion. 
 
 

6 Budget and Performance Committee Work Programme (Pages 83 - 86) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Gino Brand, gino.brand@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5792 

  

The Committee is recommended to note its work programme. 
 
 

7 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for 26 September 2019 at 10.00am in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

8 Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:Gino.Brand@London.gov.uk
mailto:Gino.Brand@London.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Budget and Performance Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 11 July 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5525 

E-mail: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Budget and Performance Committee 
Date: Tuesday 21 May 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Committee Room 5, City Hall, The 

Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance   

 

 
Present: 
 
Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman) 
Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair) 
Unmesh Desai AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 
1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Sian Berry AM, for whom Caroline Russell AM 

attended as a substitute. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 
2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
2.2 Resolved: 
 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 
Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance


Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 21 May 2019 

 

 
 

3   Membership of the Committee (Item 3) 

 
3.1 Resolved: 
 

That the membership and chairing arrangements for the Budget and Performance 
Committee as agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly on 
2 May 2019, as follows: 
 
Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman) 
Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair) 
Sian Berry AM 
Unmesh Desai AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 

 
 
4   Terms of Reference (Item 4) 

 
4.1 Resolved: 
 

That the terms of reference, as agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London 
Assembly on 2 May 2019 and as set out at Agenda Item 4 for the meeting, be 
noted. 

 
 
5   Standing Delegations (Item 5) 

 
5.1 Resolved: 
 

That the standing delegation of authority to the Chairman of the Budget and 
Performance Committee, as set out below, be noted. 

 
At its Annual Meeting on 1 May 2013, the Assembly agreed to delegate a general 
authority to Chairs of all ordinary committees and sub-committees to respond on 
the relevant committee or sub-committee’s behalf, following consultation with the 
lead Members of the party Groups on the committee or sub-committee, where it is 
consulted on issues by organisations and there is insufficient time to consider the 
consultation at a committee meeting. 

 
The then Budget Committee, on 22 June 2006, resolved: 

  
That the Chair be given delegated authority to write to the appropriate bodies 
seeking further information arising from discussion at meetings. 

 
 
 
 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 21 May 2019 

 

 
 

6   Minutes (Item 6) 

 

6.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 5 March 2019 be signed by the Chairman 

as a correct record. 

 
 
7   Summary List of Actions (Item 7) 

 
7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
7.2 Resolved: 
 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 
Committee be noted. 

 
 
8   Transport for London Capital Projects Delivery (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on Transport for London’s (TfL) capital projects delivery to the following 

invited guests: 

 Alex Williams, Director of City Planning, TfL; and 

 David Hughes, Investment Delivery Planning Director, TfL. 

 

8.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

8.3 During the course of the discussion, the Committee requested the following additional 

information: 

 The number people that TfL have modelled in London as requiring step-free access; 

 A breakdown of the schemes that make up the Growth Fund; 

 Number of home starts on TfL land, including affordable starts, to date against the 

target on 10,000 by 2021; and 

 Detail of the lobbying done by TfL on the extension of Crossrail to Ebbsfleet, as well as 

the current timetable for that work. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 21 May 2019 

 

 
 

8.4 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the report and discussion be noted; and 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with Party 

Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree any output 

from the discussion. 

 
 
9   Budget and Performance Committee Work Programme (Item 9) 

 

9.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

  

9.2 Resolved: 

 

That the work programme be noted. 

 
 
10   Date of Next Meeting (Item 10) 

 

10.1 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Tuesday, 11 June 2019 at 10.00am in 

the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
11   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 11) 

 
11.1 There were no other items of business. 

 
 
12   Close of Meeting  

 
12.1 The meeting ended at 11.58 am. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chairman  Date 
 
Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5525; 

Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 

Page 8



 

  

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Budget and Performance Committee – 21 May 2019 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 8 – TfL Capital Projects Delivery  
 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Item 8 is the main item of business for today, which is Transport for London 

(TfL) capital projects delivery.  This is the first of at least two meetings that we are going to be having on this 

subject.  Can I welcome our guests, Alex Williams, the TfL Director of City Planning, and David Hughes, the TfL 

Investment Delivery Planning Director?  Gentlemen, thank you very much for giving up your morning to be 

with us this morning.   

 

The TfL capital programme is obviously gigantic and of great interest both to the Assembly and to Londoners 

as a whole.  An opening question - and I think it will probably be you, David, that we start with - is what TfL 

are trying to do with the capital programme. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  I will let Alex take that 

one, if that is OK. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Fine. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  What we are trying to do is to deliver 

the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS).  The MTS, as you will know, tries to address the challenges of a 

growing city.  We are at a population now of 8.8 million and we are projected by 2041 to go to 10.6 million or 

10.7 million people.  Within that Strategy there is a choice for whoever is in control of the London government 

as to how we want to accommodate that growth.  That growth equates to around an extra 6 million trips per 

day.  The Strategy sets out how we want to accommodate that growth by shifting as many trips as we can to 

sustainable modes, and those sustainable modes are public transport, walking and cycling.  A key objective of 

the capital strategy is to provide infrastructure that supports that transition to sustainable modes.   

 

At the moment, around 63% of all trips are by sustainable modes.  If you go back to 2001 it was around 51%.  

We have gone on a journey of increasing trips by sustainable modes but to get to 80% in the MTS is a 

challenging and ambitious target, and every time we set the capital programme in every Business Plan we need 

to look through at it that that lens of the MTS, making sure that the schemes that we fund or we choose not 

to fund are seeking to achieve the objectives of the MTS, which is supporting a growing city with a 

dependence on sustainable modes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Mayors come and mayors go, of course.  The capital programme outlasts all 

of them.  The MTS now is likely to outlast him, is it not?  Then a new Mayor is going to come in and could 

potentially have completely different views.  How flexible is this programme to keep up with the change of 

mayors, change of administrations? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The MTS that was published last year 

[2018] was the third: the third Mayor, the third Transport Strategy.  Every new Mayor comes in and has a new 

suite of strategic policies, the London Plan, the Environment Strategy and the MTS.  I think it is inevitable that 

if there is a change in Mayor there will be a change in the MTS.   

 

It is interesting that if you look at all three, there are clearly significant differences but there are a lot of 

similarities about supporting a growing city with new infrastructure for public transport and new infrastructure 

Page 9



 

  

for walking and cycling.  Whilst there are obviously different emphases and some key projects - the first one 

was all about the Congestion Charge - actually there is more in common in those three Strategies than you 

would expect.  In terms of how we keep pace, the bottom line is that the capital strategy is reviewed every 

year.  It is reviewed every year through the Business Plan process. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  I would add that the 

nature of the investment programme is such that the longer-term projects tend to be on the London 

Underground (LU) and roads, the ones with the long duration, and they have tended to be the foundation of 

each of these mayoral Transport Strategies.  It is hard to see a Mayor who would come in and not want to 

complete the Tube upgrade programme.  Where a change of Mayor and a change of MTS might have an 

impact is likely to be on the schemes that have a shorter delivery timeframe, so there is inherently a bit more 

flexibility to adapt in that space.  The things that have a long-term commitment are the LU and rail projects, 

generally.  They get baked in. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  To deliver the Mayor’s aims and objectives - the headline one being 80% of 

trips taken by walking, cycling or public transport - without significant investment in new public transport or 

new ways of getting around, it is going to be very difficult to make that step change, is it not?  There does not 

seem to be a great deal in the capital programme at the moment that would deliver that. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  If you look at the MTS, the key driver 

of that mode shift is increased public transport capacity.  It sets out that by 2041 we need to increase public 

transport capacity by 85%.  It is a big increase.  Within the document there is a bar chart talking about the 

areas that are committed, the subsurface lines, the Piccadilly signalling, things like that; the areas where we 

can do more in terms of sweating the existing assets through metroisation and further Tube upgrades; and 

then there are also the new projects like Crossrail 2 and the Bakerloo line extension (BLE).   

 

In the MTS, the first five years are funded through those public transport upgrades.  We would like more.  

Particularly, one of the areas we are struggling with is the Piccadilly line signalling.  We would have liked to 

procure that, but we have not been in a position to do that.  That is clearly the number one priority for the 

comprehensive spending review (CSR) when we are seeking new funds.   

 

On metroisation, there is a lot of work going on.  On Crossrail 2 and Bakerloo line, there is a lot of work going 

on as well.  It is all progressing.  However, the reality is that we do not have all the money to deliver those.  I 

think that any MTS, in its early years, would not have all of the funding in place.  I will give you an example.  

The first MTS was done in 2001.  The big project there was Crossrail 1.  That was not funded.  There was no 

funding deal for that.  We did not get a funding deal for that until 2007.  I think it is always important to have 

an MTS that looks beyond the current funding envelope because if you do not have that ambition you will not 

succeed. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That is a reasonable point.  Now, previously the [Budget and Performance] 

Committee has been confused between new investment and capital renewals.  TfL have moved the bar 

between the two on several occasions.  This time I will look straight at you, David.  What is the split between 

new investment and capital renewals in the forthcoming capital programme? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  In 2019/20, the 

current financial year, it is about a 25/75 funding split.  We are spending about £450 million on what we 

describe as our core renewals and broadly £1.5 billion on what we are calling enhancements.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  How has that changed over the last few years? 

Page 10



 

  

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  It has come from 

historical highs through the period  from the end of the public private partnerships (PPPs), through the 

[London] Olympics [2012] and in the years following the [London] Olympics we had a period of investing very 

heavily, particularly in the LU track asset base.  Two things drove that in particular.  One was a need to bring 

the overall asset condition of the LU track base up to an improved standard.  The investment in the LU track 

base was also a key enabler for the line operators.  You need to do the track work before you come and put 

the signals on.  Doing it the other way around would be a bad idea.  There have been historically high levels of 

spend on the LU track base and then I think -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Just to be clear so that we are talking about the same thing, are you talking 

about new investment there or are you talking about renewals there? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Renewals. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Renewals. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  This is what we would 

describe as core renewals, renewing the existing asset base.  It is a bit arbitrary, really, and I think it has 

changed over time as to what we have badged as part of the operating costs and what we have badged as 

renewals.  The track work, certainly in recent years, we have called renewal spend even though you could argue 

that it is part of the upgrade work for Four Lines Modernisation.   

 

The definitions have changed over time but I do not think that changes the overall picture that we had 

historically a high level of spend in our core assets, particularly the LU track assets.  We also, in the first half of 

the current decade, were spending heavily on some road infrastructure, one-offs like the Hammersmith flyover 

and two big refurbishment jobs on Transport for London Road Network bridges over National Rail 

infrastructure on Highbury Corner and Ardleigh Green.  That was broadly £200 million to £250 million 

spending.  We have had historically quite high levels of investment in the core renewals base.   

 

As I know you discussed with my colleague, Patrick Doig [Divisional Finance Director, Surface Transport, TfL], 

in March [2019], the decision was taken in recent business planning rounds to scale back the level of spend 

that we are making, this year [2019/20] and next [2020/21], in what we call our core renewals to what we 

know to be the amount that is necessary to ensure a safe and operable condition for our network.  That is the 

starting point.  We have the first bit in the jigsaw.  Any business planning process is to ensure that we have 

scaled the investment in our core renewals such that our networks are in a safe and operable condition.  We 

have taken a conscious decision to scale it back for a limited period of time.  We are able to do that in part 

because of the historic levels of investment we have made but we are also conscious of the need to ramp that 

back up in the back years of the current plan to what we believe is the steady state run rate of spend that we 

need to ensure on our core renewals to ensure an optimised whole life cost and good state of repair. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Your renewals, you are taking them down for the next couple of years?  

Have I understood that correctly? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Yes.  Well, last year -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  You will ramp them back up -- 

 

Page 11



 

  

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Last year, 2018/19, 

this year [2019/20], and then they start to ramp back up.  Based on the December 2018 Business Plan we are 

back up to the £650 million run rate, which we think is probably the right sort of steady state, by 2021/22. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  How are you funding your capital renewals? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We will be funding that from the 

business rates. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  From revenue? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes.  Well, from the business rate deal 

from the Government.  We have shifted away from an operating grant to those business rates which are 

coming via the Greater London Authority (GLA).   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Why are you doing it through revenue rather than capital? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  That business rate fund is used solely 

for the capital programme.  The operating revenue, you have a surplus on the Tube and that is 

cross-subsidising the bus operations and the other contractor services.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  It is capital spend, is it not? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The business rate money is effectively 

used for capital spend on Healthy Streets or on the Tube network. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  I am just curious about that because in most public sector organisations 

when you are financing capital spend you finance it through borrowing because lots of borrowing is cheap to 

the public sector, etc, and you pay it back over time.  You are using revenue to finance.   

 

One of the reasons we have had some interest in this on this Committee is that TfL have moved around the 

definition of what is a new investment and what is an upgrade.  It seems to vary year by year in some cases.  It 

seems to be a bit more solid now.  How you fund it is very, very important because revenue, as you say, 

obviously comes from things like business rates, from tax and everything else, but the capital programme is 

normally financed by borrowing.  In this case you get a very large grant from Government, do you not?  Why 

have you chosen to fund the upgrades by revenue? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I am afraid I am not the best person to 

ask.  It is really our Chief Financial Officer (CFO) [Simon Kilonback] in terms of that allocation.  We are 

borrowing.  We are maxed out in terms of our borrowing.  Our borrowing is capped by the Chancellor of the 

Exchequer [The Rt Hon Philip Hammond MP].  There is a component of borrowing for the Crossrail funding 

deal.  I am afraid I do not know, in terms of the funding for the Piccadilly line signalling, whether it is 

borrowing or business rates.  I thought that was business rates. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Apologies.  I think if 

we were going to get into a detailed discussion about those sorts of decisions it is probably one that you would 

want to have Simon Kilonback [Chief Financial Officer, TfL] here to -- 

 

Page 12



 

  

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That is fine.  Fair enough.  Simon obviously is the Director of Finance or 

CFO. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  CFO, yes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Perhaps we could invite Simon to the next meeting.  That is probably 

sensible.  I am getting into a level of technical detail, which I appreciate. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes.  Neither of us are accountants. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That is fair enough then.  OK.  Looking at the age and economic life of the 

TfL assets, from the Business Plan they are listed as, for example, tunnels and embankments, up to 120 years; 

bridges and viaducts, up to 120 years, etc.  What level of renewal would you be expecting per annum? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Over the last ten years 

or so we have got ourselves to a position across surface transport and LU where we have a pretty good 

understanding of the condition of the asset base.  I do not think that was the case when we came out with 

PPPs.  This has been a bit of a journey to get ourselves to a position where we have a good understanding of 

the asset condition.   

 

Each year at the start of the prioritisation process we begin, with input from engineering teams and safety 

teams, by reviewing that asset condition and looking at the work banks, trying to calibrate what level of 

investment is needed.  As I said a few moments ago, what our analysis suggests is that in the long run, a steady 

state, prudent level of investment in what we have described as the core renewals is broadly around 

£650 million a year.  That is the steady state run rate to cover all our networks and maintain them in a state of 

good repair and with the levels of reliability that we are seeking to achieve. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The financial figures stated in the Business Plan on the book value asset of 

TfL’s assets is around about £55 billion and the depreciation charge is built into the accounts for that, which 

suggests renewal is around about £1 billion a year.  Even from the figure that you have just given us, you are 

coming in under that.  Why is that? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  I feel like I am being 

drawn into accountancy discussions.  Frankly, I do not know.  I would surmise that again this is where we get 

into definitions.  What we call core renewals and what I am talking about in terms of core renewals in this 

discussion do not include major upgrades and things like fleet replacement, which I think probably would be 

captured in the definition if you were using a depreciation approach.  You would factor into that things like 

replacement of rolling stock.  When I talk about £650 million a year being the steady state, I am not including 

things like rolling stock replacement or signalling upgrades.  I think that is probably where you get the gap that 

you have described.  Does that make sense? 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Possibly.  It might be something that we would need to -- 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  You might want to 

return to it with Simon [Kilonback] but just off the top of my head I think that is probably why you get a 

discrepancy.  We are talking about £650 million core renewals.  That does not actually cover the renewal of all 

of our asset base because things that are lumpy we are not capturing in that.   

 

Page 13



 

  

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  I think it is a slightly unfair question for me to be putting to you, if I am 

totally fair to you.  When we get Simon here next time, we will go for a slightly deeper dive on that.   

 

We will be going into more detailed questions about the funding programme for things in a moment but 

looking forward into the future, what indications has the Mayor given for his capital priorities going forward 

beyond the end of his term, if he gets a second term as Mayor of London? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  He has not given us indications for a 

second term.  We are awaiting information on the manifesto and the priorities that he will set out within that.  

Clearly the MTS is there as a long-term strategy but the priorities for a term from 2020 to 2024 are for him to 

set out in his manifesto.  There are some elements that will be known, key deliverables.  We have announced 

this week on the road network the Silvertown tunnel.  We are progressing the Piccadilly line signalling.  On air 

quality there are some clear deliverables there in terms of the [Ultra] Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) for October 

2020 and an expansion to 2021.  There are some known outputs that are within the MTS but we expect more 

to come when we know the details of the manifesto and the priorities that he has for his second term, as we 

would for the other candidates who are standing for Mayor. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Just in terms of that long-term planning of projects, the Government 

announced an initiative of private sector-led or backed transport infrastructure.  A couple of weeks ago I saw 

an article on Canary Wharf, highlighting their two needs.  How would that impact on future planning issues?  

Presumably it has to go through highways and byways.  How do you see that working in terms of a hierarchy of 

projects to be backed in the capital in future years? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We met with Canary Wharf Group to 

talk about their proposal and also we have spoken about it with officials at the Department for Transport 

(DfT).  It is very early stages.  Their proposal, just in case you do not know, is a new Underground link from 

Euston to the north of the City and Canary Wharf.  I call it a congestion-buster scheme, a bit like the Waterloo 

& City line was originally.  It is a version of that.  Their proposal is for it to be entirely privately financed, to 

have a separate, ringfenced fare box where they would choose what the fares would be, and not to be 

integrated with our assets.  Whether that is the reality, if this project ever comes to fruition, is another matter 

but that is their aspiration from a starting position.   

 

In reality, that project is not within the MTS.  It has come out since that and it is an entirely new scheme.  I 

think the DfT and the Canary Wharf Group need to recognise that if they do want to progress that scheme, 

even though it might be privately led, the strategic transport authority has a role in terms of the consenting 

process but also, I suspect, in the debate about the funding and financing of that as well.  It is very early stages 

yet.  I know they have had two ministerial meetings to try to get some kind of traction on it and I am not sure 

how far it has come.  Ironically, I had an email from them yesterday asking if they could meet with me. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Of course, because it is difficult for everybody in financial terms - TfL’s 

financial pressures, Government financial pressures and, I presume, the private sector need for whatever in 

terms of backing their growth - even though it is early stages something in that form needs to be taken into 

account by TfL.  Also, you are right to point out that Government needs to take out the role of TfL in those 

projects.  It is a two-way thing, is it not? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It is, very much so.  The other factor 

to think about is that we also need to look at the issue of privately financing some of the infrastructure we 

have done.  Silvertown is a good example of that.  That is a separate contract which was shortly let and it is a 

form of private finance initiative, really, where it is paid for by the revenue stream of the tolls on the Blackwall 

Page 14



 

  

and Silvertown tunnels.  It is not just within the gift of DfT and the Canary Wharf group to look at this.  I think 

the onus is on us to look at different ways of funding and financing Crossrail 2, the Bakerloo line and all of 

those big projects.  I think we have to look at other ways of funding and financing them. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Of course in the list of projects that we have, over the years, priorities can 

change.  I understand about the renewals, keeping the show on the road, but new projects, new infrastructure.  

If I can give an example because I just want to get my mindset around some of the things that you have to do 

in terms of how you put this together and advice that you may give future mayors, in something like the 

Bakerloo line, going down the Old Kent Road and coming into my constituency, one of the reasons it was a 

priority was to deliver more housing.  Of course, the other priority for TfL is to keep people moving and 

provide transport infrastructure that gets us going.  If the delay continues on the Bakerloo line and the 

build-out occurs, that is one objective that is there without the transport infrastructure to stimulate the house 

numbers that are being built.   

 

Is there a time in the future where a priority that might well be there now becomes less a priority because a 

new scheme gives a different outcome and we can reconcile with different objectives?  Although we are always 

mindful of manifesto commitments and that, is that always going to be the project or are there going to be 

other issues?  No doubt we will come further on to it, criteria about what moves this programme.  What 

replaces number two in the list and demotes it to number five because something else has come up, if you get 

my gist?   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I do. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  It was a very clumsy way of saying it but -- 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  No, I do get your gist and I think the 

prioritisation process has to be a live process that you keep on reviewing all the time.  The Bakerloo line is a 

good example.  If you look at the Southwark Planning Committee agenda, there is a steady stream of 

high-density developments that are seeking planning consent on the Old Kent Road.  Whether we like it or 

not, there are likely to be substantial amounts of additional housing going in on Old Kent Road.  Our issue is 

that without the Bakerloo line that will struggle to be served from a transport perspective.  We are working 

with Southwark and the GLA to look at what is the appropriate cap.  It is probably around 9,000 units, but 

anything beyond that - the Opportunity Area Planning Framework (OAPF) talks about 25,000 units - that is 

when we need the BLE.   

 

Prioritisation is a live process that you review every year at least, probably more often than that, but we also 

need to be mindful that certain schemes have a lot of pressure from developers saying, “We really want to go 

here”.  It is quite an interesting contrast with the Upper Lee Valley, where it has struggled to get going in 

terms of the development there, whereas on Old Kent Road we are trying to put the brakes on and say, “Can 

you wait a bit?  It is going to take quite a bit of time before the Bakerloo line gets there”.  Having said that, we 

are working very hard on it and we will consult and get refinements on that later this year [2019]. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  It is fair to say on the housing numbers there is no hierarchy of need of, 

say, one area over others because it delivers more housing outcomes.  There are dual issues, is it not?  You are 

right, moving people around.  Even though the houses are built, you will end up with logjam if you do not 

build the Bakerloo line. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes.  The other thing we need to be 

mindful is that the housing units are not per billion pounds of investment on the transport infrastructure.  

Page 15



 

  

There are some schemes that unlock pretty substantial amounts of housing for not necessarily that huge an 

investment.  That is one of the criteria that we need to look at: first, where the developers want to go, the 

classic one being Old Kent Road, and secondly, how much is the infrastructure that is needed to accelerate 

that housing and what is your bang for buck for that kind of investment?  That is another part of the 

prioritisation exercise that we look at.   

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Lastly, just finishing off the question I think the Chairman was asking 

around mayoral priorities, of course manifestos come and there are a list of priorities here.  Are there other 

projects that you have obviously worked up on the past that have been projects before?  Later on in our 

briefing note we have some projects that were on the agenda but that have come off the agenda.  Are you a 

bit like police investigating crimes: no transport project dies, it just goes to the back of the queue if it is not a 

priority?  Is it still there, a live project, it is just a question of whether we touch a bit of electricity on it to bring 

it back a bit further to life?  Are there other projects that you have, plan Bs and Cs and Ds that you can bring 

forward? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The key projects are in the MTS, 

which sets out the ones that we believe are the priorities to be delivered.  That is supplemented in the London 

Plan.  But you are right, these projects have a habit of coming back when you think they are long gone.  They 

resurrect themselves.  I was reading in The Evening Standard yesterday or maybe the day before about the 

Hammersmith fly-under.  That was a scheme that I thought had died but some people probably think it has not 

died and should be resurrected.  The Crystal Palace tram extension.  They have a habit of coming back.  For 

me, working at TfL, the first point of prioritisation is what is in the MTS and what is in the London Plan.  There 

are some things that come in left field, like the Canary Wharf Group proposal, but they do not have the status 

of the ones in the London Plan and the MTS. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Generally things do 

come back because none of them are daft.  They all have an underlying logic to them and if they fall out of the 

prioritisation process the underlying case for the schemes is still there.  Crossrail is a good example, of course.  

Crossrail 1 was killed off several times. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, I can remember.  Chairman, just one last question.  It is more about 

planning for the future again.  We have a Business Plan which is quite here and now, very gritty, you know 

what you are dealing with, and then you have a Transport Strategy that is 25 years but even that is a direction 

of travel rather than individual projects.  We do put individual projects in that.   

 

Just in terms of future planning, is there a better way to plan for transport infrastructure or are they the two 

principal documents you work to?  I can recall a previous Deputy Mayor for Transport saying, “Do not worry 

about the Transport Strategy because that is off over there somewhere.  What you need to concentrate on is 

the Business Plan, the Mayor’s Business Plan.  That is what TfL will deliver because the Transport Strategy is 

not -- ”   

 

As officers, in terms of the direction of travel and enabling planning - and obviously the mayoral priorities are 

important - is there a better way that we should look at the Transport Strategy or should we be arguing that in 

the future Transport Strategies there is a different section relating to some of the infrastructure wishes of the 

future?   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I do remember the comment from my 

Deputy Mayor of a few years ago and I think it did reflect a time where the MTS was drafted, published, went 

through consultation and everything, but it did not have the influence on the Business Plan that it probably 

Page 16



 

  

should have done.  It was all things to all people but it did not resonate in the Business Plan.  That is the key 

change for me for this time, that the MTS is shaping our annual scorecard where we track performance and it is 

shaping the Business Plan.  I will give you an example.  Tomorrow, I am in front of the Board with an annual 

update on the MTS, talking about how we are progressing.  In some areas we are not progressing the way we 

should.  In others, we are on top of it and it is having a real impact.   

 

I think having that short-term horizon and long-term horizon is a healthy thing.  The key challenge for me is: 

do not forget the long-term horizon.  It is easy to say, as the Deputy Mayor for Transport a few years ago 

probably did, “Don’t worry about the MTS”.  That is not the case for this one.  It does resonate within the 

decision-making and the annual shaping of the Business Plan.  That is a key part of it for me. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Good.  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Just touching on something that Assembly Member Duvall raised, where 

schemes come from and how they come back to life, one example would be the Thames Gateway Bridge that 

Ken Livingstone [former Mayor of London] was terribly keen on, which Boris Johnson [MP, former Mayor of 

London] was less keen on.  It went away for a while and then in the final two years of Boris Johnson’s [MP] 

mayoralty it seemed to resurrect itself.  Then it got paired with a potential bridge in Belvedere as part of a twin 

bridge strategy and a lot of work went in from the boroughs that would be affected and TfL.   

 

Then almost overnight that disappeared because this Mayor made an announcement about several other river 

crossings, one of which was going to be a Docklands Light Railway (DLR) extension into Thamesmead that 

would have followed exactly the same route as the Gallions Reach bridge, but that has now disappeared off the 

priority list for the capital programme.  It is not on your list of priorities, is it, your critical, central, desirable and 

deprioritised, because you do not have any funding for it?  Then we did get the Rotherhithe Bridge.  Where 

has that come from? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I will give you a story about bridges.  

It is a very good summary of the history.  These kinds of things do ebb and flower.  It is quite interesting.  I 

went to Thamesmead the other day with Peabody and stood in Thamesmead looking at where the bridge 

would have been.  It was very close to getting consent, as you know, but it was rejected at the time.  If that 

had been through, that bridge would have opened a long time ago.  A six-lane bridge, a big change to that 

part of east London. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Devastation to Bexley.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I will not go there but I know the 

issues.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That is a subject for a beer perhaps, Alex. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  What we did soon after the Mayor 

came into office is a review of all of the river crossings in east London.  That included, from east going in, 

Lower Thames, Belvedere, Gallions, Rotherhithe, Silvertown and also some of the ferry crossings.  Working the 

other way, what was agreed was that we would prioritise our efforts to continue with the Silvertown consent, 

which was secured and we will shortly announce who is going to be running that.  We would look at the 

Rotherhithe to Canary Wharf bridge as a pedestrian and cycle bridge as it was in the Mayor’s manifesto and we 

had a priority on that.  We are working on that.  Then for the crossings further east of that, ie Gallions and 

Belvedere, we said that for the Gallions alignment we would focus on the DLR.  We are working on that with 

Page 17



 

  

Peabody, who are the master planner for the 11,500 homes in the Thamesmead area, and the Royal Borough 

of Greenwich and the London Borough of Newham.   

 

On the road crossings that were previously being looked at at Thames Gateway and Belvedere, the policy of 

the MTS is effectively to park those until we are clearer about the impacts of Silvertown, Rotherhithe and 

Canary Wharf, until we have progressed the DLR at Gallions, and also taking account of Lower Thames.  The 

safeguarding is still there for Gallions and we still potentially might look at Belvedere but it is really saying, 

“Let us focus on the ones that we have money for and want to deliver, and then review the situation once that 

has happened”.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  That might be the subject of a separate meeting.  Certainly we could 

have some fun with that because the politics around all of that is quite interesting.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Given that the Mayor’s objective is 80% walking, cycling or public transport, what sort of 

work have you done on the numbers of people who you would consider disabled in London, or elderly, frail and 

needing step-free access?   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  In the MTS, what we are seeking to do 

is to eliminate the journey time difference for people with disabilities and able-bodied.  Over the last year that 

metric, the difference in journey time, reduced from ten minutes to nine minutes.  The objective is to get that 

to zero so that there is no additional time for people with disabilities to use the public transport network.  The 

bus network is fully accessible.  There is a lot of work to do on the historic Tube network.  Five stations 

became step-free last year [2018/19] and there are more to come this year [2019/20].  There is a lot of work 

with Network Rail (NR) on those step-free programmes as well.  That is part of our analysis for the 80%.   

 

The only thing I would say, though, is that post-MTS we published four Action Plans on Vision Zero, cycling, 

walking and freight servicing.  We are working on a fifth one, which is about accessibility and inclusion issues.  

That is something we are working on this year [2019/20] to give more substance and depth to that issue 

about how we provide more for people with disabilities. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Thank you for that but that does not answer the question.  How many people do you think 

in London are disabled or frail and thus needing step-free access? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I do not have those numbers in my 

head.  I am sure they are in our modelling.  They were taken into account in terms of our modelling for the 

80%. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I would hope it would be in the modelling.  It is vital. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Absolutely. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  If it is more than 20% then you are never going to get to that figure.  Could you get the 

figure to us as a Committee? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I could certainly get that breakdown.  

The other thing to bear in mind is that I think the Action Plan will be picking up the whole range of disabilities 

Page 18



 

  

and mobility issues that people face.  A lot of focus is on people with physical disabilities but there clearly are 

mental ones as well. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I accept that unreservedly, my point being: what are the numbers?  Is it a very small amount?  

It could be an enormous amount.  If you are doing modelling you need to know how many people this affects, 

approximately. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We do have the numbers.  I do not 

have them in my head.  I will get them to you. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  If we could have them, that would be very helpful.  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you.  I just briefly wanted to pick up on the Silvertown Tunnel and the issue of 

manifesto priorities.  The Silvertown Tunnel, in relation to the 80% target and also in relation to the desire to 

clear up our air, is a new transport asset that will induce extra traffic, with the increased potential for using 

technology for diverting people from much further out, on the way into London, to divert away from Blackwall 

if that is congested and travel over the Dartford Bridge.  If we have a Mayor after the next election who is 

determined to make sure that those air pollution risks are not worsened with Silvertown - also, with climate 

change and the need to decarbonise our transport, Silvertown does not help with that - how committed is TfL 

with the deals that you have been signing so far?  If the transport priorities shift as TfL is working out how to 

decarbonise transport, can you get out of what you have signed up to this week? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I am afraid I do not know the detailed 

contract clauses there but you repeat a lot of the issues that were raised at the Development Consent Order 

(DCO) and considered in terms of the traffic impact of that, the air quality impact of that and the other 

mitigation factors there.  All of those issues were considered at length in that inquiry and the Secretary of 

State for Transport [The Rt Hon Chris Grayling MP] approved the scheme after receiving extra modelling 

advice on air quality.  The other thing to bear in mind is that the scheme introduces road user charging on the 

Blackwall Tunnel and the Silvertown Tunnel, probably the largest expansion of road user charging since 2003.  

Also, it is a public transport-based tunnel.  You have 37 buses per hour going through, which will improve 

reliability there.  There is a credible case that that scheme fits within the MTS.   

 

In terms of the contract terms -- 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  All of these issues were 

discussed at length at last week’s meeting of the TfL Board Programmes and Investment Committee, which 

approved TfL to go ahead and enter a preferred bidder, which we expect to announce this week.  The plan is 

contract award in early August [2019].  As is the nature of these things, once the contract is awarded it would 

be very expensive, generally, to reverse that decision.  The current plan is to award the contract in August 

[2019]. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you.  That is worrying. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  You talked earlier about having done a review for the Mayor about river crossings in east 

London. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  Was that an internal review? 

Page 19



 

  

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It was published.  It went to the 

Board, I think, in September or October 2016.  The prioritisation approach is in the public domain and that was 

also reflected in the policies and statements in the MTS. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  I know it is in the MTS.  Obviously that was a more substantial review.  The reason I ask 

is that there was talk, in the last few months, of a DLR extension from Beckton to Barking Riverside.  Is this 

still on the agenda?  Is this something they are looking at? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  That is not in the MTS because the 

scheme that we are focusing on, we are delivering.  The tracks are being laid.  It is the Barking Riverside 

extension on the Gospel Oak Line from Barking down to Barking Riverside.  That is the heavy rail infrastructure 

that will unlock the 12,000 or 14,000 homes in Barking Riverside.  That is the scheme that we focused on, 

rather than the DLR. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  In response to a question from the Chairman about the Rotherhithe crossing, you said 

something along the lines of, “We are working on that”.  What does that mean? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Well, there is a whole team working on 

it.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  I have been to public consultation meetings and so on. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It is a very complicated crossing.  

There is money in the Business Plan to deliver it.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Really? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  To pay for the whole thing? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  You have £400 million in the Business Plan to build that bridge? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  There is £330 million in 

the Business Plan for Rotherhithe to Canary Wharf.  The consultation was due to have commenced at the end 

of April [2019].  We have deferred the start of the consultation to allow further work on value engineering 

aspects of the scheme, going back and looking at certain of the requirements around alignment and the 

navigation requirements of Port of London to see if we can take out some of the cost before going to 

consultation.  That is where we are on the scheme. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Where is the funding coming from? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  It is in the Business 

Plan so it is part of your earlier question about how we fund the capital programme.  There is no hypothecated 

funding stream for Rotherhithe to Canary Wharf. 

 

Page 20



 

  

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):   When you say it is in the Business Plan, have you assigned a cost to it? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  We have assigned a 

cost.  The Business Plan has a funding provision of £330 million.  As the work on the design has developed we 

have deferred the consultation to allow us to do more work to try to make sure we can get a cost that is within 

that funding provision. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That is interesting because the Mayor was asked questions about this at 

Mayor’s Question Time and he had no idea how it was going to be funded.  He said it would probably be a 

version of PPP. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  That is not my 

understanding. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  PPP has to rely on an income stream, 

like Silvertown where you have a toll.  In theory you could toll that crossing but I am not aware of a tolled -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  TfL is going to fund Rotherhithe Bridge?  You have set some funding -- 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  That is included. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  We have touched on 

prioritisation and Assembly Member [Len] Duvall asked the question about if we keep the prioritisation under 

review.  To be clear, in every business planning round we review everything that is not -- well, we review stuff 

that is in contract but that is generally quite a light touch because normally it is more expensive to get out 

than carry on.  Everything that is not contractually committed is part of our annual business planning 

prioritisation process.  Rotherhithe to Canary Wharf is not contractually committed and we will be looking at it 

again over the course of the summer as part of our prioritisation process.  In doing that we will be looking at 

the latest cost estimates and assessing the relative merits of that scheme against competing priorities.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The other thing to add is that we will 

seek contributions from the private sector to help deliver it.  You could seek contributions from the developers 

at Canada Water or the Canary Wharf Group but they are not going to be huge.  We are certainly seeking that. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Yes.  Not a long way north of nil, from what I am hearing. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Not huge. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  You can speculate.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  We could have an awful lot of fun with that as well, Alex.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  I was just going to say that the consultation meetings I have been to are well attended.  

The mood was more in favour of an improved ferry service.  The view of Tower Hamlets Council, expressed by 

former Councillor Dave Chesterton - I hope I am quoting him correctly - was that they are fairly ambivalent 

about this bridge as long as they did not have to pay for it or contribute to it. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Sorry, that was a councillor from 

Southwark? 

Page 21



 

  

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  No, a councillor from Tower Hamlets, Isle of Dogs, Dave Chesterton. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  If you seek powers for this scheme 

you need to review all of the options, including a ferry.  We have done an appraisal about what is the most 

effective transport product to serve the needs of that area, a bridge and a ferry, looking at the two together. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Right.  We are going to move on to a question of funding the capital 

programme.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Just to finish that, when is the new consultation on the bridge going to take 

place?  It was due to start in April [2019]. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  I do not know at the 

moment.  It depends on the progress that we make in this further design work, this further work that we are 

doing to look at costs.  We want to get a clearer understanding about what the optimal design is before we 

would commit to a further date for consultation. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  I had some correspondence from constituents about that only last week so 

that is very helpful.   

 

Right, let us get into my questions.  On the capital programme, I think your Business Plan shows your 

expenditure is going to be between about £1.2 billion and £1.5 billion each year, Crossrail separate to that, but 

you previously stated that you need about £3.3 billion every year to be spent in order to deliver the MTS.  

There is a big difference in that.  How can you fund your capital investment ambitions? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The £3.3 billion was the figure that we 

quoted around the time of the MTS and that was for all transport investment in the capital, not just within the 

TfL Business Plan.  It has to pick up the NR investment in the city and the investment from the boroughs.  We 

expect the vast majority of it to come through our Business Plan.   

 

The reality is that the existing funding sources we have through business rates, borrowing and other sources 

are not enough to deliver the MTS.  In the MTS in chapter five, I think it is, or maybe chapter six, there is a 

section on funding and financing.  We need to look at other mechanisms to deliver some of the key 

infrastructure projects to support the MTS and support the shift to sustainable modes.  There is a whole range 

of things that we continue to look at.  Often they are project-related discussions like Crossrail 2.  I think you 

were briefed recently by Michèle [Dix CBE, Managing Director, Crossrail 2] on some of the new and creative 

ways of funding and financing that project.  We will have similar debates -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  What are you looking at for Crossrail 2?  How could you fund that? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  There is probably no stone unturned, 

knowing Michèle, in terms of this kind of work.  It is looking at business rate supplements, it is looking at what 

you do on council tax, it is looking at land value capture, it is looking at sale and lease back and those kind of 

arrangements; every single possible option available out there, she is investigating.  It is a big and expensive 

project.  We do not have the money there.  There was a funding challenge from the Government in saying 50% 

comes from London.  There is a national debate about too much money going to London, the north needing to 

proceed as well.  It is a very complicated deal to get over the line.  That is a project where we are looking at 

every single funding and financing opportunity we can think of. 

Page 22



 

  

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  But you do not have funding certainty going forward beyond 2020. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  2021. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  2021.  How are you going to manage the programme?  How are you managing 

it? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  That is a key challenge for the CSR, 

really.  That is our first ask, needing long-term funding certainty for our Business Plan.  If you think about the 

funding arrangements pre-TfL, they worked on an annual settlement which was completely ridiculous for 

long-term planning and long-term delivery of transport projects.  Over the last 18 or 19 years we have had the 

benefit of long-term funding deals, five or ten years, and what we need is certainty so that you can enter into 

contracts on the Piccadilly line signalling and other things that go beyond a time horizon of 2021.  2021, from 

a transport perspective, is not that far away.  One of our key asks for the CSR is core funding certainty beyond 

that 2021 time horizon.   

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Without that, it makes 

it almost impossible to progress with the major schemes that have that longevity like completing the Tube 

upgrade.  I cannot see how we would be in a position to do that.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  Traditionally you have borrowed against future revenue as a way to fund 

these.  Does that still work as a funding stream going forward? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It is probably another question for the 

CFO [Simon Kilonback], but we are borrowing.  We are maxed out in terms of our borrowing.  If we asked for 

more we would need to seek Treasury approval to do that.  That might be a discussion, a CSR debate about 

borrowing mechanisms but at the moment we are maxed out and certainly if Simon Kilonback [CFO, TfL] were 

here he would say that there is no more that we can do on that front.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That is something we need to ask him, and what the alternatives are as well.  

OK.  We will pick that up next time with him. 

 

The buses work differently in London, do they not?  Though there are 1,000 of those wretched new 

Routemasters that go around which TfL owns, the rest are funded by the operators with the fee they receive 

from TfL to run the service.  Is that potentially a model that you could extend to other modes? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  In what sense?  Contracted services? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, a different way of getting the service and getting someone else to do the 

investment that is needed. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  We already do that, in 

a way, on the Overground rolling stock.  The normal practice is sale and lease back.  It is similar in that we are 

taking it off our balance sheet. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Off your balance sheet, yes. 

 

Page 23



 

  

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Historically, that has 

never really been seen as an option on the LU fleet because of its bespoke nature.  Again we get into 

accountancy where I am uncomfortable, but that sale and lease back arrangement requires some future use -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Outside our network, yes. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  -- outside, and when 

you are designing bespoke trains to fit our tunnels the view of corporate finance colleagues is that that sale 

and lease back approach has never been one that would work for LU and has therefore never been looked at 

for the LU fleet.  However, we routinely do that.  As you know, we are doing it with the Elizabeth line fleet, we 

routinely do that with our Overground fleet and that is the normal practice across the national rail industry. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes.  Is it something that is being looked at? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  To do that on the LU?  

I am not sure that it is, because of the inherent bespoke-ness of the LU fleet. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That unique service, OK. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  One thing I would say is that in terms 

of the options for the BLE, that is something we need to look at.  Is there a different form of contract for that 

extension?  One of the other things, as you will know, Caroline, is that we are looking at the project together 

with the Bakerloo line upgrade now.  It is much more of an integrated project.  We are looking at different -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Do you think you can get the private sector to do something different there, to 

help you with the financing of it? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Potentially.  That is one of the issues, 

really.  It is a very expensive scheme and they might have access to funding or financing that is easier to 

accommodate than us because, as we say, we are maxed out in terms of borrowing.  Different ways of funding 

and financing is something we have to do for Bakerloo and also Crossrail 2 but it is exploring rather than 

saying, “We are definitely going to do this”.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Otherwise, how do you fund these desirable projects? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Well, you can go so far in terms of our 

contributions, borough Community Investment Levy (CIL) contributions and mayoral CIL contributions, but 

inevitably you have a gap.  All of them have a gap.  We can develop these schemes but we need a different 

form of funding and financing to get them over the line, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  One of the big sources for your borrowing in recent years has been the 

European Investment Bank (EIB).  You have seen huge amounts of funding for Crossrail, for the previous 

Mayor’s cycling infrastructure, the Bank Tube upgrade, Victoria Station and so on.  These have obviously been 

at really low interest rates.  Are you concerned about the impact that not having such easy access to the EIB 

will have on the cost of borrowing to deliver some of these projects?   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I am afraid that is a question for 

Simon Kilonback [CFO]. 

 

Page 24



 

  

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  That is probably a 

Simon question, yes. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I do not know the cost of borrowing 

from the EIB.  Apologies for that. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  I know that is 

something that Simon’s corporate finance team have looked at.  They have been planning for the Public Works 

Loan Board and how that would step in and take the place of the EIB post-Brexit, but it is probably best if 

those questions are directed at Simon and his team rather than -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That is fine.  In terms of the projects - and I have been looking because you 

have now categorised ‘critical’, ‘central’, ‘desirable A’, ‘desirable B’ and ‘deprioritised’ - I do not see in here 

anywhere the Sutton tram extension, which had been mentioned.  The Mayor has committed to it.  Where is 

that?  Has that not even made it to the list? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I would say that is probably priority 

level 3.  The Business Plan -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Priority 3.  What do you mean? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Desirable. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It is desirable.  Would it be A or B? 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  We interrogated Simon Kilonback quite closely on this when we went 

through the budget-setting process at the beginning of the year.  We asked for a briefing note about where 

each of the live capital programme projects was.  The briefing note that we received states, relating to schemes 

that have been taken out of those four categories that Assembly Member Pidgeon has talked about: 

 

“It is also important for us to have certainty around future funding in order to commit to other 

long-term projects.  As is normal, not all of the funding for future transport infrastructure schemes 

beyond the five-year Business Plan has yet been identified and we did not categorise these projects 

during business planning.  We will continue to develop central funding packages for a number of major 

schemes including Crossrail 2, the Bakerloo line extension, the Sutton Link scheme and the West 

London Orbital, the Elizabeth line extension to Ebbsfleet and a potential DLR extension to 

Thamesmead.” 

 

So, all of these projects have fallen off during the lifetime of the Business Plan? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  If I may, I think the 

briefing note and the list of projects that was appended to that, what that is setting out is the outcome of the 

2018 business planning process and the prioritisation we went through, for which the dataset was projects that 

were already either within the previous Business Plans, quite well-developed, or projects that we were planning 

on delivering on the core TfL capital spend.  These bigger projects like Crossrail 2, the Sutton tram link and the 

BLE are not actually part of our annual business planning process.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The Sutton one is different, actually, 

because the previous Business Plan had £70 million in it for Sutton.  The new Business Plan has £70 million for 

Page 25



 

  

Sutton.  It has not changed.  That is basically all that you could probably tangibly spend in the next five years 

on that project.  The project is -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Alex, sorry to interrupt you.  If that is so and TfL are planning on spending 

£70 million on the Sutton Link within the lifetime of the Business Plan, which is five years, why is it not 

appearing on any of the priorities that TfL have assigned? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I think it is in the Growth Fund.  It is 

an allocation within the Growth Fund, which is in the list of central -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Where is that in terms of your list of -- 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Third up from the 

bottom. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Third up from the bottom.  That 

programme has a number of schemes. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  In the ‘central’ 

category, in the appendix to that briefing note. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It is untidy.  It probably should have 

been picked out because it is the largest in the Growth Fund. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Right, the Growth Fund.  How much money and how many projects are 

contained within it? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It is around a dozen projects.  It is 

around £418 million, I think it was, but I have to confess a good chunk of that has already been spent.  I am 

going to give you an example.  The Elephant and Castle roundabout was funded through the Growth Fund.  In 

terms of what is left, it is circa £300 million, but we can get you a breakdown of that if you want that. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Yes, we would appreciate it because this is the sort of detail that we had 

asked for.  The reason we asked for it is so that we would know where things were being spent and why and 

what the rationale for it was.  Lumping things together under a nebulous title like the Growth Fund is not 

helpful. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  No. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  We accept that. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I agree.  In hindsight, that should have 

been broken down.   Having said that, the Healthy Streets portfolio probably has an even longer list and 

Equalities has an even longer list of sub-projects within them. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  You talked about Elephant and Castle.  It is listed on its own. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  There are actually three projects at 

Elephant and Castle.  There is the Elephant and Castle roundabout, which has been done.  There is the 

Page 26



 

  

Elephant and Castle Northern line ticket hall, which is probably what is listed there, again, which is a Growth 

Fund scheme.  There is also another project we are looking at, the Bakerloo line station at Elephant and Castle 

as well. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  What is not on this list, 

though, just to be clear, and probably should have been explained better is the major schemes such as 

Crossrail 2 and the BLE, which are not really a major part of those huge decisions.  Those huge schemes that 

require bespoke funding packages sit slightly to the side of our routine business planning process. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It needs to be there, does it not, because these are mayoral priorities and 

ultimately you need to implement what the Mayor has asked you to within your rules and processes? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Therefore, they should be listed out even if it is separately, “We are securing 

funding.  We are getting a package”, so that we have this comprehensive picture of what you are funding, 

what you are seeking other money for and the priorities.  That is what we are not clear on.  The Sutton tram, I 

have heard the Mayor say he is committed to it in questions from Assembly Members and yet -- 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  It is not here. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  -- I could not find it in any of our paperwork.  Both Mayors have committed to 

it. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It is an allocation within the Growth 

Fund, which is in the list, but I agree with you that it should have been broken down.  There is £17 million in 

the Business Plan and probably about £5 million for development as well on top of that.  Borough CIL 

contributions are set at £40 million.  There is quite a substantial amount of money available for it.  The 

challenge is that the total cost of the scheme is set for £500 million and so we are -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, it has gone up.  It was about £300 million.  It is now £500 million.  It seems 

to just be going up every -- 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  No, in the consultation that was that 

out recently, I think it was a range of £350 million to £480 million.  The figures that are in the public domain 

have not changed.  The issue is that there is a substantial funding gap and we need different ways of funding 

and financing to get that over the line. 

 

One of the issues that we are discussing and debating with the boroughs is whether they want to think about 

workplace parking levies to progress that scheme. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  In Merton and Sutton, yes. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  That is one of the things we are 

looking at to get over the line. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Could I just pick up one final thing?  I know you have talked quite a lot about 

Silvertown, which is helpful, but you now expect to confirm a preferred bidder in June 2019.  That is what it 

Page 27



 

  

states in the Board paper for tomorrow.  Selecting a preferred bidder does not then mean signing the final 

contract. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  No. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  When would you expect to do that? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  I believe we are 

planning to do that by August [2019]. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  By August [2019], and then you are committed and so, if there is a change of 

administration, there will be a huge cost.  It is a bit like the Garden Bridge. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  I do not have the 

detail.  I do not know off the top of my head the break clauses in that contract and they are probably 

commercially sensitive anyway.  To all intents and purposes, in all of these schemes, at the point when you sign 

the contract you are committed and it would be very expensive -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Potentially, it is a bit like the Garden Bridge: a contract was signed and then a 

new Mayor comes in, changes their mind and there is a cost to the public purse. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  For any project, at the 

point at which you sign the contract, you are committing the organisation to deliver it. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  There are two things I would say.  One 

is that the announcement is likely to be this week.  The second is that the difference with the Garden Bridge is 

that all the consents are in place. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Absolutely.  That is a bit of a difference. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  That is just for clarification. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  OK.  We have heard that you are maxed out on all your borrowing.  We have heard that there 

are funding gaps, shortfalls and projects waiting.  Do you therefore think it was sensible to continue with the 

TfL fares freeze? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  That is a very political question, but 

that is a judgement for the Mayor.  If you look at the effect on patronage, our patronage has held up with that 

fares freeze.  It has saved Londoners a lot of money.  It is quite interesting if you compare it with National Rail 

fares and passenger levels.  They have seen a bit of a decline.  It is picking up again, but they were having 

significant fares increases.  It is a political judgement, but what we have seen of the effect of the fares freeze is 

that our numbers have held up. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  We are seeing the effect of fare freezes.  We also have overruns.  We have all sorts of 

financial issues within TfL. 

 

Page 28



 

  

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We have financial challenges and we 

have had financial challenges under the last administration as well.  Our job is to deal with those and manage 

those. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You are not worried about the financial aspects of TfL? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We will get through this but -- 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  There are always 

financial constraints.  The capital programme that we have is about £2 billion a year.  It is a very big capital 

programme and -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I get that.  Nevertheless -- 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  -- you will always have 

these prioritisation decisions to make.  There will always be resource constraint.  Alex and I are more involved 

in the allocation of the funding rather than in Simon Kilonback’s CFO side and what the different sources of 

funding are.  We are - certainly my role - more involved in how we allocate the available funding.  We still have 

a very significant investment programme. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  When you are looking at allocating funding, do you always put safety first? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You make sure that everything that is needed to be done -- 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Yes.  It is the first piece 

in any prioritisation process: what is that level of critical spend that is required to maintain a safe and operable 

condition on our networks? 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You are happy with that at the moment? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Fine.  Thank you. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Sorry, just on the Silvertown Tunnel, my understanding is that there has been a 

preferred bidder named and it is all online. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  No, there has not.  

There has been speculation in the press but we have not made an announcement.  There are only two bidders. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  The other thing I wanted to clarify is following on from Assembly Member Pidgeon’s 

question about funding this.  One of the other areas that I know TfL gets finance from is the sale of assets and 

the sale of land, but there is a really ambitious target that the Mayor has set in terms of how many homes he 

wants to see built on TfL land.  Can you clarify what the criteria will be?  One of the things that we looked at in 

the Housing Committee was around the number of inner London sites being sold at a higher value with less 

affordable housing in comparison to sites in outer London boroughs, where you get more housing.  I can 

guarantee you that we need those houses in Southwark.  I am talking about the Crossbones site and Landmark 

Page 29



 

  

Court where, again, the Mayor challenged TfL to bring forward at least 130 units and the final proposal has 

something ridiculous like eight.  How are you going to balance that up? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The target that we are working to is 

10,000 homes by 2021 and at least 50% of those will be affordable.  That is the target that the Mayor has set 

us and we are working hard to achieve that through a variety of sites all over the capital.  On the 50% target, it 

has been accepted that it is not going to be an absolute on every site.  It will be for the portfolio.  There are 

some sites, one in Lambeth at Fenwick Street.  I forget what it is named now -- 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  At Lambeth North Station? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes.  That is 100% affordable.  There 

are others that are going to be lower than that.  I do not know the percentage for Landmark Court and 

Crossbones.  That is a mixed-use development of residential and commercial.  It is a site-by-site judgement 

about what the appropriate level affordable is going to be, but in terms of the overall programme, it is 10,000 

by 2021 and 50% affordable. 

 

The other thing I should say is that we are shifting away from the sale of assets to more in the private rented 

sector.  This is about, rather than getting a one-off injection of cash - and there will be some sites that we do 

sell, like 55 Broadway is on the market as we speak to be sold - a lot of the housing portfolio we look at is to 

look at the private rented sector, which is about an ongoing income stream for TfL. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  A couple of tidying-up questions from me before we move on.  Is that 

target of 10,000 units by 2021 with 50% affordable for starts or completions? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Starts.  We will start 10,000 on our 

land by 2021. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  How many so far? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I do not know.  In 2018/19, we 

brought sites to the market with the capacity to deliver 3,165 new homes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  You brought sites? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  That is starts on sites.  I do not know 

the numbers. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  You do not know the numbers? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  No, but we can get that. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Yes.  We will sweep that up in the note afterwards.  What exactly is the 

status of Crossrail 2 at the moment? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The formal status is that Michèle Dix, 

Managing Director of Crossrail 2, and her team are working on a Strategic Outline Business Case (SOBC) to put 

to the Government and that will go in next month for assessment by the Government and then it will go to a 

DfT Board a month after that.  That is the fifth SOBC. 

Page 30



 

  

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  I was going to say.  I had a very similar conversation with Simon Kilonback 

about a year ago and the business case was imminent and about to go to the Government.  The gamechanger 

at that time was that the Government said that the 50% was always going to be 50% but it was 50% over the 

lifetime of the build, not the asset, which significantly shortens the amount.  That was going to be a real 

stretch.  Then of course Crossrail 1 went up in the air.  Is that what has prompted the fifth business case? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, exactly.  That is exactly it.  They 

were pretty close to confirming the arrangements for the Crossrail 2 scheme and what the next steps would be 

just before we all heard the news on Crossrail 1.  That has prompted the need for a revised SOBC.  That needs 

to take account of the fact that the money that was previously assumed to be in the Crossrail 2 piggybank with 

the mayoral CIL too and business rates stuff is now needed to complete the tasks for Crossrail 1 for the next six 

to ten years.  I am afraid I do not have the number for that.  The revised SOBC will look at a different timeline 

for delivery, but there is also a debate to be had with the Government about the 50/50 and the timing of that.  

That SOBC will be looking at various scenarios there. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  I imagine it is going to be fascinating reading.  It is going to the DfT in June 

[2019], from what you have said.  Do we know when the DfT is likely to respond to that? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  There is a meeting in July [2019] and 

we are hoping for a formal position around about September [2019].  However, whenever I have been in these 

positions before or Michèle [Dix] has been these positions before, the timetable for decisions has not been as 

quick as we would like.  That is another way of saying I am fairly sure that those dates in terms of DfT 

decisions will slip. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  How transparent is it going to be? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I would assume that the SOBC is 

publicly available.  I do not know the detail of that in terms of what is going to be out there.  Once that 

decision is out, there will be a decision on safeguarding and what we are doing consultation and also what we 

do for the next steps and whether the scheme is refined.  There was something in the press this week from the 

Taxpayers Alliance about how you could take out some of the stations and borrowing to help fund it.  There 

are plenty of people with views about how the scheme should be amended to reduce costs.  The SOBC will 

look at some of those options about how we reduce costs.  There will be a DfT-mayoral discussion about how 

we proceed. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  There will be considerable public interest.  Some of the proposals or things 

have been aired are around things like land value capture, which is completely illiquid and so it is easy to say 

but is really difficult to actually do in any kind of an equitable way.  Similarly, the council tax precept, like we 

had with the Olympics, which has never been rescinded, would cause significant concern to a great many 

people.  Do you think it is going to be publicly available? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I would assume so.  I would assume it 

is available under freedom of information at least, but I am not in control of that.  You are right in terms of 

some of the funding sources that are being talked about in there, land value capture and council tax.  They are 

difficult decisions to make and you could understand why there are reservations about that.  Lots of people 

have been looking at land value capture for a very long time and I am not aware of any example that has 

happened in the United Kingdom (UK), certainly abroad but not in the UK.  These are challenging ways of new 

financing. 

Page 31



 

  

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The final one is about the status of Crossrail to Ebbsfleet.  What is 

happening with that? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The Secretary of State for the Ministry 

of Housing, Communities and Local Government, [The Rt Hon] Jim Brokenshire [MP], announced 

£4.65 million -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That is to continue to work on the business case. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  -- exactly, to continue to work on the 

business case and so that is progressing.  It is not led by TfL, but we will assist on that.  The lead on that is 

Bexley, actually.  I am afraid I do not know the timetable for that work, but that was a recently announced 

investment.  I can find out the timetable for that.  I should know that myself. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That is a drop in the ocean to actually delivering the scheme.  The scheme 

itself is going to cost hundreds of millions if not billions, is it not? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The range was £1.3 billion to 

£3 billion and the big variable there is whether it is a segregated track or is on an existing track.  That is one of 

the things to look at with the SOBC.  What are the different ways of delivering that product and the housing 

growth? 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  How much muscle is TfL putting into it?  This was in the briefing note that 

we got, as well as one of the other schemes that you want to look at but funding is not certain.  The truth 

about that really is that without central Government funding, it is unlikely to happen, is it not? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It is, but it is quite an interesting one 

to look at in terms of the land value capture debate.  One of the reasons the Government is interested in it is 

because it has always been very keen to develop Ebbsfleet outside the London boundary, where it already 

owns a lot of land.  It is an interesting example of land value capture where the public sector already owns the 

land.  They probably need to look at different ways of funding and financing the scheme and progressing it. 

 

As I said, given that the principal beneficiaries are the big housing blocks outside of London, it is appropriate 

that we are not leading but are supporting it.  We are working on the economic appraisal of the scheme and 

looking at variance for that scheme and will continue to do that.  What I do not know is the timetable, but I am 

very happy to look into that and get back to you on that. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Yes, if you could, I would be quite interested.  The timetable is one and 

exactly how much muscle TfL is putting behind it would be another.  I noted what you said about TfL not 

being the lead and I know that Bexley Council is the lead on it.  That is in terms of spending about 

£4.65 million, but in terms of actually making the scheme happen (a) it cannot happen without TfL and (b) it 

cannot happen without funding.  I would be very interested in any background you can provide on that. 

 

OK, that is enough of me being parochial.  We are going to move on and talk about value for money.  

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Can you just describe to us how you deliver value for money within the 

capital programme?  What are the regimes?  How do you measure it?  What are the right metrics?  What is the 

Page 32



 

  

balance between investments that help transport objectives and investments that are more sustainable in 

financial terms?  Take us through this process or this concept of value for money.  What does it mean for TfL? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  It is complex and there 

is no single lens.  Very broadly, there are two parts to the value-for-money question.  One is the prioritisation 

process.  Do you have the right processes that result in you delivering the right schemes?  Do you prioritise the 

right stuff?  That is the first part.  The second part is whether you then deliver those schemes well.  It is a 

two-part question on value for money. 

 

On the prioritisation piece, as we have touched on a number of times already in this morning’s discussion, we 

run an annual prioritisation process at which we look at everything that is not contractually committed, 

essentially.  The first part of the jigsaw is the critical spend required to ensure the safe and operable condition 

of our networks and then pretty much everything else is up for grabs and is looked at again.  It is looked at 

through multiple lenses.  There is no one lens or process or tool that we can churn and out comes a list.  We 

look at things in terms of their alignment with the MTS.  We look at them in terms of their financial case and 

their revenue-generation potential.  All schemes will have a standard business case analysis done on them to 

generate a benefit-cost ratio.  For the bigger schemes in more recent years, we have been applying the 

Treasury’s five-case business case model, which looks at strategic fit, value for money, affordability, 

commercial strategy and deliverability. 

 

We look at all of the schemes through a number of lenses and then that informs a judgement.  At the end of 

the day there is a judgement and there are choices and that judgement and those choices are made by the TfL 

Board at the end of the process, which is usually in autumn, informed by the analysis that we have conducted.  

As I say, there is no single mechanism for doing that.  We look at it through multiple different lenses. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Would it be fair to say that at the Board level it would be more strategic 

than detail?  Let us take a step back then into the organisation and through the processes you have described.  

In terms of checks and balances, is there a peer review?  How do I know that you are doing well?  How do I 

know that you are making the right judgements around that, albeit against that criteria you have outlined?  

Who is checking the checkers or - not the checkers - the doers, I suppose?  What arrangements are there 

around that? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  It is an intensive 

process involving many parts of the business and it comes together at the Executive Committee level of TfL.  

The TfL Executive Committee has an Investment Committee that oversees the process and then above that of 

course there is discussion with the TfL Board. 

 

It is difficult to say if it is the right outcome because, if you look at the briefing note that you were provided in 

February [2019] that the Chairman has already referred to, it gives you in essence the summary of the outcome 

of that process last year [2018].  That outcome reflects judgements around the relative priority of some of 

these schemes.  We have concluded that spending money on Holborn is more important than spending money 

on Camden on the LU station side and there are reasons for that, but some of these are quite finely balanced 

judgements. 

 

There is not a single right answer.  What we are looking for at the end of the process is, overall, do we feel that 

we have a programme for a set of projects that drives us towards the MTS outcomes and makes sense from a 

financial perspective in terms of revenue potential?  Do the individual schemes stack up in terms of the 

business case analysis at an individual scheme level?  Do we have a feel for the deliverability of the whole?  

You could have a brilliant list of schemes but you might not have a supply chain around to deliver it.  You are 

Page 33



 

  

looking at it at an individual scheme level.  You are bringing it together into portfolios and then you are trying 

to get a sense of whether that balance is right. 

 

It is a balance because some of the outcomes that we are seeking to achieve are in direct competition with 

each other.  Revenue generation might be in direct competition with active travel.  There is no single machine 

where you can turn the handle and out pops the answer.  There are several lenses that we look at this through.  

It comes together over several months.  It is scrutinised.  We have very vigorous debate within TfL and then it 

is considered very carefully at TfL Board level as well.  At the end of the process, there will still be quite 

legitimate views as to whether or not we have this right because there are choices. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  OK.  Just going back, you have a number of objectives to deliver, but is 

there ever going to be a time on capital projects where you can marshal all those objectives to come in at the 

same time?  That would be the only growl, would it not?  Life does not work that way.  We talked earlier on 

about transport-led housing projects versus actual transport projects getting people moving about this great 

city.  You can have those twin objectives but can you ever square up the transport bit with the housebuilders 

bringing them online at the same time in that sense? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  That is always the 

North Star, is it not?  Alex made the point earlier that the MTS is not something that should be left on the 

shelf.  Alex is right that it resonates in these discussions because what we are trying to deliver through our 

Business Plan is get ourselves on the right trajectory to hit the MTS objectives and at the same time get us into 

a position of an operating surplus.  That is, I suppose, the Holy Grail, as well as delivering Vision Zero and 

hitting the housing targets. 

 

My role has recently changed from Strategy & Network Development Director in LU.  I have taken up a new 

role that has been created in TfL as Investment Delivery Planning Director to try to ensure that we do this 

better and that we look across the whole piece in terms of how we prioritise and deliver our investment 

programme.  I have to say coming from an LU background that LU is much easier.  You just put as much 

capacity on and hit your reliability targets.  When you look at the investment programme across the whole of 

TfL, it is much more nuanced and there are many more balances that need to be struck.  It is much more 

complicated. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  All right.  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Assembly Member Pidgeon? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Can I just pick up in terms of your timing of projects and sharing value for 

money and can I take the example of the Piccadilly line?  It is really important.  You have new rolling stock set 

to go ahead, but some of that is being funded from £1 billion of capital through the deal you have done with 

the Crossrail trains.  Is that correct? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, the sale and leaseback. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  The leaseback.  That is the term I want.  Will the delay in the opening of 

Crossrail have any impact on that? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  No. 

Page 34



 

  

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That will not impact on that at all.  You have these new trains that you are 

ordering and, absolutely, they will be wonderful, but is it sensible to bring in - in terms of investment - new 

trains when you are not getting the signalling upgrade and so actually you are not getting that full capacity 

increase?  In terms of timings of decisions for capital investment, is it sensible to go ahead with one without 

the other and really get that upgrade in terms of -- 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  There are lots of interesting things in 

there.  The Elizabeth line sale and leaseback was crucial to enabling us to place the Piccadilly line order 

because that gets us over this hurdle of not having long-term certainty around funding.  That is why the 

Elizabeth line sale and leaseback was crucial to getting the Piccadilly line away. 

 

The Piccadilly line replacement had to happen because the fleet will be life-expired by the end of the 2020s.  

The Chairman asked earlier where the projects come from.  Lots of projects come out of the MTS.  Actually, 

this is an asset-replacement project first and foremost.  We have to replace the Piccadilly line fleet come what 

may.  By replacing the fleet we get some capacity uplift.  We go from 24 trains an hour to 27 trains an hour 

and the trains carry more people.  I do not have the exact percentage in my head, but we get capacity uplift 

from the trains. 

 

The big benefit would be to replace the signalling because that would then get us up to 33 to 36 trains an 

hour, depending on precisely what size of fleet we end up procuring.  We absolutely want to do the Piccadilly 

line signalling because there is a very strong business case for doing so.  That is why - and Alex referred to this 

earlier - in most of the discussions we are having, the Piccadilly line signalling is our first priority in the CSR and 

frankly any other discussion we are having at the moment.  We have to do the Piccadilly line signalling. 

 

There is not quite the same imperative on the signalling in terms of asset replacement.  You could choose a 

route of obsolescence management on the Piccadilly line signalling.  It would be very inefficient and very 

suboptimal and - absolutely to your point - you would not be getting the return on investment from the trains 

if you do not do the signalling.  We absolutely want to do the signalling. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I am just trying to get my head around that, making that decision and value for 

money -- 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes.  When we went to the Board last 

year [2018] to seek authority to place the Piccadilly line rolling stock contract, we effectively said to the Board, 

“We absolutely would like to do rolling stock and we want to do signalling, but at the moment we only have 

the funding for the rolling stock and we have to do the rolling stock because we are going to run into reliability 

problems.  The fleet will be 60 years old”. 

 

The same issue will come up on the Bakerloo line.  We have spent something around £150 million in the last 

few years on the Bakerloo line to try to extend its life, but we will come to a point at the end of the 2020s and 

early 2030s when we will have to replace the Bakerloo line.  Of course, that then gets wrapped up into the 

broader discussions about the BLE as well and what we do with it. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes.  That is interesting, but it is also interesting that the Piccadilly line has now 

come back up.  I remember when I was first elected here Tim O’Toole [former Managing Director, London 

Underground].  We had a few months with him before he left.  It was a different world with PPP and all of 

that, but in discussions he said, “The absolute next priority is to get the Piccadilly line done”.  That was back 

Page 35



 

  

then.  Eleven years on, you have funding for only part of it and you are not going to get that big capacity 

increase. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  We will move on to our final section now, which is around delivering 

the right outcomes.  . 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes, looking at delivering the right outcomes, we have the MTS priorities with the 80% 

walking, cycling and public transport, the Healthy Streets agenda, the need to keep public transport delivering 

for Londoners and also more homes.  Will the TfL investment programme deliver the right outcomes in the 

longer term? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes.  That is short and sharp.  In terms 

of what is in the Business Plan now, as David mentioned earlier, there is a substantial amount of investment 

going in and the shift is quite interesting.  The Healthy Streets agenda is a big part of the investment 

programme that we are pressing on with.  The reality is that we have to review it every year and also track 

outcomes against the MTS, which is exactly what I am doing tomorrow with the Board. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  There is the issue that some of the very big infrastructure projects take years to bring 

to fruition and certainly many of them predate the current Mayor.  I suppose there are two things.  One is how 

to ensure that they deliver the current Mayor’s priorities and, also, are you reviewing everything in light of the 

fact that the Mayor has recently declared a climate emergency, for example?  Have you done a carbon 

reduction assessment of what is happening in the MTS so you know that it is compatible with the Mayor’s 

declaration of a climate emergency? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  In terms of the effect on carbon and 

the carbon footprint, that would be part of the business case assessment.  The other thing that we are working 

on and will go to the Safety, Sustainability and Human Resources Panel in the summer is a carbon plan looking 

at the issue about how we adjust to those issues going forward.  You are right.  This issue is greater in the 

public consciousness and there is an expectation that we act on that. 

 

One of the interesting things for a carbon plan is for us to start thinking about the areas that get the greatest 

return.  Some of the issues about how we procure energy and what we are doing on the electrification of the 

bus fleet are the areas that we get the biggest return from a climate change perspective.  I know there are a lot 

of issues about solar and things like that, but they do not give you the same amount of return there.  One of 

the things we want to look at this summer is a clear plan that sets out where we will prioritise our investment 

decisions to get the greatest impact from a climate change perspective. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Just to be absolutely clear and to follow up on Assembly Member Pidgeon’s 

questioning about the Silvertown Tunnel, August [2019] is the last point at which that Silvertown Tunnel 

decision can be reviewed?  That is an unbelievably carbon-intensive project for London to be investing in and 

there is so much else that I am about to come on to around delivering for outer London and reducing car 

dependency in outer London.  Will that carbon assessment apply to the Silvertown Tunnel? 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  It has, yes.  August 

[2019] is, as I have said, the planned contract award date.  We do not accept your view that this is a very 

Page 36



 

  

carbon-intensive project because the modelling we have done gives us confidence that the tolling regimes at 

Blackwall and Silvertown are not producing an increase in traffic volumes at those crossings.  The consents that 

we have in place put an obligation on TfL to make sure that the tolling regimes going forward meet the 

environmental outcomes that we submitted to the process. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The classic thing there is that if the 

tolls are not effective in that regard, we will review the tolls.  That is part of the monitoring framework that is 

agreed as part of the DCO. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Maybe we can discuss this outside of this meeting.  Looking at the 80% modal shift 

towards sustainable travel, do you think that the asset programme is delivering as much as it possibly can to 

achieve that shift and to be absolutely certain that you are going to hit that target? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The asset programme or the capital 

programme? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Your capital programme, yes, what you are actually investing in. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  That is something we have to 

constantly review and assess in terms of that.  We have to challenge ourselves the whole time as to whether we 

are investing our limited capital funds wisely and also all working towards that objective of the 80% target 

within the MTS. 

 

The other thing to bear in mind is that there is not a budget line called ‘mode shift’ in the Business Plan.  Every 

component of the strategy should be working towards mode shift. 

 

David Hughes (Investment Delivery Planning Director, Transport for London):  If I may, every single 

investment decision and every investment paper will start with a section that sets out its alignment to the MTS 

to be followed by the financial case and what it is contributing and what the net cost of it is.  They are all 

pointing in that direction. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I will give you an example.  We are 

only a month or so into the central London ULEZ and that is clearly a product to improve air quality, but the 

reality is that that will reduce traffic levels in central London as well by about 5%, probably more if you look at 

the initial monitoring we are getting there.  That is all part of a mode-shift agenda. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I am not sure that central London is our biggest problem in terms of achieving those 

mode shifts.  The areas where we are seeing more people forced into car use and ownership are those places in 

outer London where there is less public transport and where the challenge is much greater.  It is that everyday 

experience of walking or cycling in outer London where you have those very big main roads, which were 

designed in the 1960s and 1970s to facilitate fast car movements with wide splays at junctions and things like 

that. 

 

Do you think that you are doing enough in outer London to make that everyday experience of walking and 

cycling desirable and safe so that people change the way they make those local journeys? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Going back to the key premise of the 

question, outer London is the area of greatest challenge.  We completely recognise that.  Outer London is not 

Page 37



 

  

one amorphous unit.  There is a lot of variability, as you all know, about different characteristics and different 

priorities in outer London. 

 

What is quite interesting though is, if you look at the borough analysis about where they are delivering on a 

shift to sustainable modes, often the good examples are where we have done the Mini Holland investment and 

where we have done targeted, substantial investment in walking and cycling facilities.  We have boroughs that 

are looking at high-density development as well.  If you look at their shift to active modes and to sustainable 

travel, it is very impressive.  They are bucking the trend in outer London.  Often there is not much movement 

in outer London boroughs, but in the areas where we have invested in a substantial way, we have seen some 

significant returns. 

 

One of our challenges in the context of a limited capital funding envelope is how we make sure that the 

investments we are putting in - like in the Liveable Neighbourhoods, for example - are delivering the shift to 

sustainable modes, backed up by good quality facilities for people walking, cycling and using public transport.  

They will only do it in outer London if there is a credible walking network, a credible cycling network and a 

good public transport network. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  One of the recommendations we made from the Transport Committee in the Hostile 

Streets report was that TfL should be particularly identifying junctions in outer London that cause community 

severance, investing in those, and also having a changed working practice when ordinary maintenance-type 

roadworks are happening to do things like reducing the crossing distance for pedestrians on side roads, things 

that make a difference for everyday walking. 

 

Do you think there is more that TfL could be doing to make sure that that investment in everyday maintenance 

is making more of a difference for the safety of walking and cycling? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  One of the ways that the MTS 

resonates in our operational decision-making is through our scorecard.  Within that, we have the Healthy 

Streets checks for all the big schemes there were last year [2018/19].  There were only a dozen schemes or so 

that we checked last year [2018/19].  What we have done is to reduce the threshold substantially.  It is now 

everything over £250,000, which captures a lot more schemes, potentially some in the category that you 

mentioned there.  We are assessing a greater range of schemes to make sure they are contributing to the 

Healthy Streets agenda. 

 

I cannot say on individual cases that every resurfacing team can do something on the footways, but that is the 

logic of casting the net wider to more schemes.  It is to make sure that we maximise the opportunity for some 

of those lower-cost schemes to deliver Healthy Streets outcomes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you.  Finally, in terms of achieving the 80% objective, is it the buses that are 

going to really help you?  If you can get the bus network improved in outer London, is that how you are really 

going to deliver this? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  In the next five years, the dominant 

area of delivery for outer London - you are right - is a credible bus network where we look at addressing the 

issues of reliability and speed.  What is quite interesting is that the bus priority programme we have is actually 

delivering some quite significant returns in terms of improving reliability and speed in outer London.  People 

will only transfer to the bus if it is reliable, fast and attractive. 

 

Page 38



 

  

There is a lot of work that Geoff Hobbs is doing as our Public Transport Service Planning Director, looking at 

reconfiguring the bus network in outer London, increasing the mileage slightly, looking at express routes, 

looking at the demand-responsive transport and those kinds of initiatives to look at how we make the bus 

offer in outer London more attractive.  He has a lot of work underway, but you are right that that is a big 

component of the mode-shift agenda. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Do you think that the investment in that outer London bus network has sufficient 

priority within TfL’s priority list? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes.  There is an operating subsidy of 

£723 million or something like that for the bus network.  It is a substantial investment there.  The issue though 

is that we need to innovate and reconsider the bus offer in outer London.  That is why the demand-responsive 

bus trial we are doing in Sutton is a good example of innovating rather than saying, “We have always put this 

bus on this corridor.  Why are not people using it?”  We are thinking, “Actually, do we need to work on a fixed 

corridor or should we go and find the passengers?”  That is what demand-responsive transport is almost doing, 

really.  It is not just about money.  It is about how we deploy the resources in the most efficient way but also 

innovate to make it more attractive. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Just on that last point, how much flexibility do you have to do that?  For 

example, in my constituency there is a new school being built.  We have been in contact with TfL about 

increasing the frequency of a particular bus route and we are getting knocked back a little bit on that.  I 

appreciate that budgets are budgets and sometimes you have to respond to demand rather than create 

demand, but how much flexibility is there genuinely to do this? 

 

One of the issues we have with school bus transport - less so for primary schools where the catchments are 

smaller but certainly for secondary schools when the catchments are bigger and the children are travelling 

independently - is that it can put a lot of pressure on the peak periods for the bus network.  I was having a 

conversation with a councillor from Bexley yesterday on that very issue about Bexley Heath. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  This one is actually in Bromley.  I am not always speaking about Bexley. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I am just giving an example about how 

it is a live issue.  One of our challenges for new schools is that we need funding support to increase the 

capacity for services at the peak.  Often when people are planning and looking at the business cases for new 

schools, they are not taking into account the transport impacts of that.  One of the issues we had at the 

planning debate is to secure contributions from those secondary schools and in particular in outer London for 

service improvements to those schools.  It does vary a lot by borough.  Some boroughs have allocated quite 

large sums of money, several hundred thousand pounds, to subsidise the operation of additional bus services in 

the peak.  For other schools, particularly free schools, it has been harder to get the money. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  I am not surprised by that and most people working in the education sector 

would be rather irritated by that, I would think, because their budgets are under intense pressure.  Particularly 

in outer London, local councils have always been funded significantly less than those in inner London because 

of the deprivation index that was used previously as part of the local funding formula.  If your aim is to try to 

increase bus usage in outer London, that is not a terribly helpful approach. 

 

Page 39



 

  

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The other thing to bear in mind is that 

often these school sites are located in areas where there is land availability, which is tough in many boroughs.  

Often that is low-cost, inaccessible land.  They are looking at a site with a low cost, but they are creating a 

high cost to us.  The issue is about who bears that cost, certainly in the first three to five years of the school’s 

existence.  It is a thorny issue for a lot of secondary school developments in outer London and it runs and runs, 

I am afraid.  Some boroughs recognise the issue and there is a straightforward debate on the planning process.  

In other cases it is more difficult to extract the money.  The reality is that we do not have the money.  We have 

that operating deficit of over £700 million and more and more -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Some of this surely could be achieved by better route prioritisation, could it 

not, or amending certain routes? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  That is what is happening.  If you 

think about the changes in central London, that is about reducing supply in an area where there is maybe 

oversupply and looking at a redistribution in outer London, but the redistribution in outer London has had only 

a 1% increase or a few percent increase.  That is not going to solve some of the real peak problem. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  No.  That is why I asked the question about flexibility.  It is not a question 

about brand new services.  It is a question about realigning what you already have. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, but there also needs to be a 

debate with the applicant about them addressing the transport implications of that. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  I have a feeling that this one could go around and around in circles.  

Just also following on from questions Assembly Member Russell was asking, when you are looking to increase 

modal shift in parts of outer London, are you looking at the travel patterns of the people who live there?  

Again, I will talk about my constituency where we do not have the Tube.  There is one tram stop that just 

about comes into Beckenham Junction and goes straight back out again into Croydon.  Public transport is 

basically mainline rail and buses, but most of the people who live in my constituency do not consider 

themselves to be living in London.  They talk about going up to London.  They consider themselves to be in 

Kent, as you know very well. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, I am sure. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Many of their journeys actually go east.  They do not go west.  Trying to 

shift people out of their cars is going to do very little other than make them very angry.  When you are 

thinking about that in terms of modal shift, are you taking into account their travel patterns and where they 

are going? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  What we have done is a lot of analysis, 

which was all published with the MTS, about the issue of switchable trips.  It was actually looking at a transport 

classification of all Londoners, all the various population segments, and working out their aptitude to switching 

away from their cars and also looking at the detail of what trips they are making and whether they can be 

switched to other modes.  What we have found there is that the example you quote is quite a common 

example.  There are a lot of trips that are heavy rail commuting from outer London into inner London, but 

those same people are making a lot of other trips in outer London that are often quite short and by car often 

but they do not necessarily have to be car.  It is looking at whether, if the walking environment was improved 

or the cycling environment was improved, would they choose to use other modes?  It is recognising that 

Transport Classification of Londoners thing.  Some groups of the population like the elderly are less likely to 

Page 40



 

  

switch to those modes but other groups of the population are more likely to switch to those modes.  That 

analysis is all part of what is underpinning that 80% target. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Without the significant investment of a very different public transport 

network, certainly in my part of outer London, you are not going to get to where you want to get to. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We are not saying 80% in every 

borough. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  You are saying across London, are you not? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, exactly, and in central London we 

are well over 80% now.  We are in the mid-90s now.  Each borough through its local implementation plan will 

be set a target for that shift to sustainable modes.  One other thing we are looking at when we talk with 

boroughs at the moment is about whether we reassess how we allocate money to the borough through the 

Local Implementation Plan funding formula to recognise the issue about the level of change they need to 

make.  If you have say, 45% by sustainable modes and we are asking you to go to, say, 60% by 2041, should 

the money allocation that comes from TfL reflect the journey you need to make in terms of the level of change 

in mode shift.  That is something we are looking at with London Councils now.  It goes to their tech next 

month and it will apply to changes to the funding formula going forward.  We do recognise that it is tougher in 

some parts of London to elicit this change to more sustainable modes, but we are not saying a flat rate of 80% 

everywhere. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The focus of the answer you just gave me there was around the carrot rather 

than the stick.  It was about incentivising and allowing boroughs to be incentivising.  A shortcut way of doing 

it, of course, would be to try to tax drivers out of their cars, would it not? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The MTS does include a policy on road 

user charging.  Every MTS has a policy on road user charging.  There are references in there to looking at 

distance-based charging and to assess the potential impact of that.  You are right about the investment we 

have so far.  The Business Plan was saying that by the end of the five years we expect to go from 63% to 65% 

sustainable mode share.  To get up to the 80% is not all about carrots.  We would need some stick element to 

that as well. 

 

Clearly, that is a big political decision to make.  It will be for the various candidates who put themselves 

forward for the Mayor in 2020 to make some sort of statement on whether they want to do that.  The 

long-term MTS references that and we are looking at options for that, but there is nothing firm in terms of a 

proposal to come in in mid-2020 or something like that.  There is nothing worked up in that level in detail, but 

to get to the 80% we are likely to need some form of a stick, as you say. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  How far advanced is TfL’s thinking in that regard? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We are just looking at options, really.  

There was a report that was released last week or a couple of weeks ago.  A Future of London report looked at 

some of the options on road user charging.  We fed into that report.  There is a wider stakeholder community 

looking at that issue. 

 

In terms of working up a scheme to be delivered by a date in 2020, we do not have a scheme.  We are focusing 

on the Low Emission Zone for 2020 and the inner London ULEZ scheme for 2021.  In terms of what happens 

Page 41



 

  

after 2021, we do not have a firm proposal for that because it relies on a clear political steer as to what people 

want to do beyond 2021. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I want to pick up the outer London point because, actually, if you want to get 

people out of their cars and onto buses - which is effectively for a number of boroughs buses to get people to 

the station, to the shopping centre, and you mentioned express routes and you have to think about orbital 

routes as well - you have to look at a different kind of offer.  It has to be more attractive.  You see a greater 

shift for people to go onto a tram than you do onto a bus.  What are you doing to look at that offer and to 

make it attractive?  Our committee, the Transport Committee, has suggested things like Wi-Fi on buses and 

what sort of buses you use so that they are faster loading.  If I live in outer London and I have a car, it is very 

convenient.  I can park at the station.  I can park at Bromley Town Centre to go shopping.  However, if there 

was a bus that was fast and reliable that could get me to those, you would generate more income and you 

would get those cars off the road.  What are you doing to really focus on that offer? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It goes back to my earlier answer 

about the need to innovate.  To say that we will just put on the same old buses that we have done for the last 

20 years and hope that people come is not going to work.  The innovation is there in terms of the response to 

the trial in Sutton. 

 

The other thing we need to do is to look at the quality of the fleet that we put out there.  Quite a few of the 

new electric buses that we are putting out have charging points.  You can plug in and charge up your phone 

and Wi-Fi and things like that.  It is looking at the customer offer.  It is also looking at the clarity of the bus 

offer.  Regular users know where it goes to and from.  A lot of non-regular users are pretty confused by it.  We 

have done some interesting trials in Barking to rebrand the bus offer, to try to make it more attractive and to 

bring people on. 

 

We have recognised the challenge in outer London from a mode share perspective and there is a lot of work 

underway to see how we can look at the whole bus offer to see how we can make it more attractive to get 

people back on them. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Quite a few years ago, there was some really good work that Brent Council had 

done and I went and met the former mayor with local councillors.  People commute to the Park Royal Industrial 

Estate, but if you had a different type of bus - they called it a ‘fast bus’ - that picked up at all the different 

Tube stations, went into that industrial estate and then went on over to Ealing or whatever, it would get 

people out of cars because they could get right into the middle of that industrial estate, which is one or two 

miles across - it is huge - and you would get that modal shift.  Are you looking innovatively at things like that? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We are looking at express bus services, 

a variant to the fast bus.  I remember that scheme very well.  They shortly will announce a change to the 140, 

which is an express bus from Harrow down to Heathrow.  In terms of the fast bus scheme for west London, we 

are looking at the west London orbital, which is a rail-based product in that area, connecting Brent Cross, Old 

Oak and Hounslow.  That is probably better than the previous scheme. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  By thinking creatively like that, you would generate income because people 

would start to use buses, but it is a slightly different offer. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, an express bus offer is something 

that we are definitely looking at. 

 

Page 42



 

  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  We have reached the end of the discussion, Members.  Can I thank our 

guests for their contributions today?   

 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Budget and Performance Committee 
Date: Tuesday 11 June 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance   

 

 
Present: 
 
Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman) 
Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair) 
Sian Berry AM 
Leonie Cooper AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Unmesh Desai AM, for whom Leonie Cooper AM 

substituted.  

 

1.2 During the course of the meeting, the Chairman welcomed students and staff from Manor 

Longbridge school, London Borough of Barking and Dagenham. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 45

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance


Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 11 June 2019 

 

 
 

2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

2.2 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 
 
3   Standing Delegation (Item 3) 

 
3.1 Resolved: 

That the standing delegation of authority to the Chairman of the Committee, which 
is subject to agreement by the London Assembly at its Plenary Meeting on 
6 June 2019, be noted as follows: 

To delegate authority to Chairs of ordinary committees, sub-committees and 
working groups to agree, in consultation with the relevant party Group Lead 
Members and Deputy Chairs; 

a) The detailed terms of reference for any investigation to be undertaken by the 
relevant committee, sub-committee or working group within its work 
programme as agreed by the GLA Oversight Committee, and any related project 
plans and arrangements for related site visits or informal meetings; and 
 

b) The topic and scope for any additional projects to be added to its work 
programme, where it is not practicable to secure prior approval from the 
GLA Oversight Committee and subject also to subsequent ratification by the 
GLA Oversight Committee. 

 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 
4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
4.2 Resolved: 
 

That the outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the Committee be 
noted. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 11 June 2019 

 

 
 

5   Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation Risks (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation (OPDC) risks to the 

following invited guests: 

 Liz Peace CBE, Chair, OPDC; 

 David Lunts, Interim Chief Executive, OPDC; and 

 Jasbir Sandhu, Interim Chief Finance Officer, OPDC.  

 

5.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

5.3 During the course of the discussion, the Committee requested copies of the transport 

appraisal supporting the OPDC’s Housing Infrastructure Fund, and any Department for 

Transport analysis related to that.  

 

5.4 Resolved: 

 
(a) That the report and discussion be noted; and 

 
(b) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree any output from the 
discussion at the meeting. 

 
 
6   Budget and Performance Committee Work Programme (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

  

6.2 Resolved: 

 

That the work programme be noted. 

 
 
7   Date of Next Meeting (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for 11 July 2019 at 10.00am in 

the Chamber. 

 
 
8   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 8) 

 
8.1 There were no other items of business. 
 
 

Page 47



Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 11 June 2019 

 

 
 

9   Close of Meeting 

 
9.1 The meeting ended at 11.50am. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chairman  Date 
 
Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5525; 

Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 
 

Page 48



 

  
 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Budget and Performance Committee – 11 June 2019 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 5 – Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation 
Risks  

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Item 5, which is our main item of business today, is the Old Oak and Park 

Royal Development Corporation’s (OPDC) risks.  I would like to welcome our guests, firstly Liz Peace [CBE], 

the Chair of the OPDC, David Lunts, who is the Interim Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the OPDC, and 

Jasbir Sandhu, who is the Interim Chief Finance Officer (CFO).  Welcome to all three of you. 

 

It is the first time we have met since the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) grant of £250 million back in 

March, I think, of this year.  I suppose we ought to start off by talking about what you are going to be 

spending that money on.  I do not know if it would be you, Liz, to kick off on that? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  I thought it might be helpful, Chairman, if I just gave you a brief statement of 

where we are, starting with the HIF news.  It would probably be fair to say we are at quite a challenging point 

in our history at OPDC.  Yes, we received a very favourable announcement in March [2019].  We were all 

absolutely delighted about that.  It was some six months after we had put our HIF bid in, so it had taken an 

awful lot of time.  The HIF bid does not mean we have the money in the bank.  The announcement then was 

followed up by an exchange of correspondence which sets a number of very challenging conditions that we 

have to meet until we actually get the money.   

 

As I say, we are quite a long way from having a bankable pot of expenditure.  We know for the moment this is 

going to lead us to an interesting problem in-year because until we actually get the money we do not have the 

means to pay for the things we need to do to get the HIF bid progressing.  There is likely to be some element 

of shortfall in-year and I will talk about that again in a moment. That is something we have been in discussion 

with the Greater London Authority (GLA) about underwriting that.   

 

One of the conditions in the HIF bid is around having an accepted Local Plan.  The Local Plan for OPDC has 

been through, I think, three consultations in all and is now going through its Examination-in-Public (EiP).  As I 

am sure some of you will be aware, it is regrettably being challenged by a major landowner in the area on the 

grounds of viability.  The inspector has dealt with a whole load of stuff in the Local Plan but then asked for 

some supplementary information and a further hearing, which is going to take place on  

18 July [2019].   

 

It is an interesting point, this, about viability, because we accept that over the whole site, especially given what 

has happened in terms of industrial values going up and residential values going down, at the moment looking 

at the whole site, yes, indeed, I think there is a question about viability in terms of it being able to wash its 

own face.  Although, I take the view that this is a long-term project.  We have always said this was a long-term 

project.  We do not know in 10 years where values are going to be.  We do not know what is going to happen 

to strategic industrial land.  There are those who think it has reached a ceiling.  Residential will almost certainly 

come back when some of the political uncertainties are resolved.   

 

I personally believe we should take a very robust view of the EiP and say that we are in this for the long haul.  

Our Local Plan is aspirational.  The fact that we cannot immediately dot every i and cross every t is not a 

Page 49



 

  
 

reason not to accept the Local Plan.  However, that will be up to the inspector and different inspectors tend to 

take different views so that is definitely a challenge. 

 

Now, that is also somewhat undermined by the current political uncertainty around High Speed 2 (HS2), which 

regrettably we can do nothing about.  Obviously, political folks, the more you can talk about it and talk about 

the need for it, we would be very, very grateful.  Indeed, Sir Patrick McLoughlin [MP, former Secretary of State 

for Transport] this morning made very strong comments to the Conservative leadership candidates about 

backing HS2.  However, that does add a degree of uncertainty because, as I started to explain at the 

beginning, we will need some underwriting in-year to get cracking in advance of the HIF money actually 

coming into the bank.  The Mayor is, not surprisingly, cautious about committing additional funding to 

something where there is an element of political uncertainty over which we have absolutely no control.  That 

does present us with quite an interesting conundrum. 

 

Now, all I can say at the moment is that we are working strenuously through these issues.  David [Lunts] has 

very kindly agreed to do two jobs, to come on board and help OPDC.  He and I are having continuous, ongoing 

discussions with the GLA and indeed with our funders, with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) and Homes England, but we do not have a resolution to these challenges at the 

moment.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  There are a number of things in what you have just said that I would like to 

pick up.  The HS2 element I will leave for a colleague a bit later on because that really is one of the elephants 

in the room, but you talked about the need for the GLA to underwrite some of the work that you are going to 

need to do to satisfy the conditions that would unlock the HIF money.  How much money are we talking 

about? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  One thing it is worth just saying as a prelude to my 

answer is that there are inevitably going to be some areas of discussion where we might have to be a little bit 

cautious about what we can reveal in public session, and I hope Members will understand. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  All I am asking about here, David, is the amount of money that the GLA 

would need to provide to enable you to do your work to satisfy the conditions that would unlock the HIF bid. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Yes.  The short answer to that is that the GLA is 

going to have to underwrite the risk associated with the £250 million of HIF because part of the conditions of 

the HIF is that the accountable body is responsible for that money.  The most obvious part of the answer is 

that in the event that that money is not allocated to deliver according to the milestones or the outputs in the 

contract once we have a contract signed with MHCLG, the GLA is accountable for that £250 million.   

 

In addition to that though, as Liz [Peace] has explained, there is likely to be a need for cash flow support.  

Now, the GLA has already agreed to some cash flow support as part of our HIF submission and that is 

understood by Government.  What we are doing at the moment is a lot of work internally to analyse whether 

the amount of cash flow support is going to need to be adjusted.  At this point in time, it is not possible for me 

to say what that figure is going to be because we have not concluded those deliberations.   

 

As Liz says, this is a very complicated project.  There are certain things that have shifted around since the HIF 

submission was made and indeed some things that have shifted around since the in-principle award was made 

by Government in March [2019].  HS2 is clearly one of those but other things are in play as well, not least the 

position that we have with Cargiant.  We are now having to reassess some of the assumptions we made and 

Page 50



 

  
 

look at what the likely cash flow requirements are going to be over the next period, particularly through to 

2024, which is the drawdown deadline for HIF, but also potentially beyond that because we are talking about a 

project that probably has a 25 or 30-year lifespan.  It is not going to be possible for me at this moment to put 

a precise figure on what that level of support ultimately is going to be. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Now, you talked about the EiP for the development plan and Cargiant are 

challenging the viability of it.  When are we expecting a result from the planning inspector on that? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  I understand that after this further hearing in July [2019] he has to go away 

and write his report and we are not going to get that until late autumn or the end of the year.  Does that 

sound about right? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Yes, I think so. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  It is quite a slow process, unfortunately.   

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Absolutely.  We are obviously in the hands of the 

inspector, but I would imagine that we would hear by the end of the calendar year.  We are certainly 

anticipating that we will have an adopted plan in the early part of 2020. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  So you are expecting the inspector to approve the Plan? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  No, we would not say “expecting him”.  We hope we will be able to convince 

him and that he will indeed approve the Plan.  There is a possibility that he may take a different view. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  If he does take a different view, would that be terminal to the OPDC? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  It would not be terminal but it would impose delay and we would have to go 

back and discuss with MHCLG the whole issue of the HIF funding.  This business of being given a chunk of 

money to spend within a particular window is difficult for a big project like this because inevitably challenges 

and problems come up.  We would have to open some constructive discussions. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Since the HIF funding was confirmed, have you agreed conditions with 

Homes England and MHCLG? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  They have set a list of conditions.  That is their right.  We are working 

through them.  Some are easier to deal with than others but as I said in my introductory remarks, one of the 

key things is the EiP of the Local Plan.  If that is going to be a problem that actually slightly dwarfs all the rest.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Which is understandable, I think.  You have to spend the HIF money by 

2024, or you have to draw it down by then.  If you do not succeed in drawing all of it down by then, what 

happens?  Does it get returned to MHCLG? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  In theory, in the terms in which it is offered, yes, but I always tend to believe 

there is scope for negotiation in these situations.  This is going to be a big national piece of infrastructure, the 

HS2 station is going to be a big piece of national infrastructure and what happens around it is going to be 

nationally important.  I think it would be very difficult for Government to pull the plug on something like that, 

but you cannot get Government to agree that today.  You have to play that as it goes. 

Page 51



 

  
 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  In terms of the additional staff that you identified as necessary in your 

budget, have you managed to recruit them all?  You have two interims flanking you today. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  I do, yes, and very grateful I am, actually.  We are in discussion at the 

moment about how we try to cement our staff complement.  I will ask David to say a little bit about what he 

has done since he arrived at OPDC.  To be honest, our recruitment is challenging because until we can get this 

degree of certainty around where the project is going and indeed our HIF funding, finding the right person 

certainly to come in and lead the organisation is difficult.  David, could you say a little bit about what you have 

done with the staffing structure and what we are planning to do for the rest of the year? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Yes.  The senior team at the moment includes one 

new recruit, which is a Director of Land and Property.  That is somebody who previously worked for OPDC 

before taking a job with Transport for London (TfL).  They have now returned and they have been in post for 

three or four weeks.  We have someone in a very senior position there who already has plenty of experience on 

the project.  That is a very welcome addition.  We also have a relatively new Director of Development, who has 

returned from an extended maternity leave.  She was formerly employed by Hammerson so has a strong 

commercial background.  So I have two permanent directors to strengthen the team, neither of whom were in 

post with us a few weeks ago. 

 

In addition to that, I have a couple of highly experienced and accomplished short-term consultants supporting 

programme and infrastructure on the one hand and supporting me as Chief Executive Officer on the other.  My 

intention for the short-term at least is to consolidate the leadership team around that group because, as 

Liz [Peace] has explained, there is a tremendous amount that we need to resolve and settle quite quickly.  The 

Board, I think, agrees with me that rather than be distracted with lengthy and potentially quite risky 

recruitment challenges at a time when many of those issues are still to be settled, we really need to get that 

team focused and working on settling the issues, which we hope will create a more stable environment that will 

be a much easier position to be in if we are looking to recruit high-calibre, very senior staff.   

 

I am pretty confident at the moment that we have the right team because they are very committed and they 

have experience of the project.  Looking forward, we may well need one or two more senior recruits once those 

issues I have mentioned get settled. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  It is also fair to say that assuming we can get into genuine delivery phase, 

then you are starting to look at building up the team with people with very specific, large project construction 

experience, perhaps a Delivery Director of some sort, but we are not at that stage yet.  We are still at the 

planning stage. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK, so we have recruitment, whether or not the GLA will underwrite the HIF 

grant and the HIF drawdown itself, which are all subject to a fair degree of uncertainty at this point in time.  

What is going to be the catalyst that unlocks all of that?  Is it literally the planning inspector’s report, which we 

expect by the end of the year [2019]? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  I think that will be a huge tick in terms of moving forward with satisfying our 

conditions.  That will indeed be helpful.  The discussions with the GLA and with our funders and potentially 

other funders are going to be absolutely key to ensuring that we can actually start delivery of the first phase, 

what we call phase 1A, which is effectively what the HIF bid was all about funding.   

 

Page 52



 

  
 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Returning just briefly before we leave this subject to the issue of 

recruitment, David is Interim CEO, which I gather you are doing part-time.  Victoria Hills [former CEO] I think 

left around about a year ago.  Am I right about that? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes.  We appointed then one of the senior team to be an interim in her place 

and we started a recruitment exercise but at that stage our HIF bid was still in the pipeline and it was very 

difficult to get the right sort of person focused on delivery when you could not actually say that we had the 

resources to do any of the delivery.   

 

We went so far with the recruitment exercise but with the agreement of the Mayor’s people and Jules Pipe 

[Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills] we decided to suspend it since Mick [Mulhern] also 

seemed to be coping very well as the Interim CEO.  Sadly, Mick was lured back to Ireland.  Nothing to do with 

Brexit, I hasten to add.  He decided he wanted to return to his native Ireland, which also left us then with a 

problem because we still at that point had not got a HIF resolution.  Even though we have a partial HIF 

resolution we have not nailed it completely for all the reasons I explained, because of this extraordinarily 

long-winded process of HIF allocations.   

 

I was able to persuade David [Lunts] to come in as interim.  You will have to ask David how many hours he 

thinks he spends on the job.  Quite a lot, I suspect.  For the moment, from my perspective that is working well.  

David might a nervous breakdown, but he will talk to you about that.  I think it is difficult for us to get 

somebody else in the meantime.  We have to resolve some of these bigger issues.  I am gently leaning on David 

to spend more time on OPDC.  Given his other responsibilities he is devoting a lot of time to us and I do not 

feel we are missing out at the moment on Chief Executive leadership.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  You now have a capital budget, a large part of which would be the HIF bid.  

Some of it is donations, some of it has yet to be realised, and that is focused on land acquisition, land assembly 

and infrastructure, is it not? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  My understanding is that you are hoping to install some of the infrastructure 

with a view to generating further funding to acquire more land.  Is that a fair way of putting it? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  The HIF bid, the way we have positioned it -- I think we are allowed to talk 

about this.  By the way, any coyness on revealing details of the HIF bid is very much because we have to take 

our lead from MHCLG, who have been quite clear that this is a commercially sensitive document and are very 

concerned that we hold that close, otherwise it puts them in a very difficult position.   

 

However, I think it is fair to say that the HIF bid will broadly be spent half and half on land acquisition and on 

infrastructure.  For the land acquisition, you go out, you buy the land and you then put the infrastructure in, 

which improves the value potential of that land.  Depending on how we do the development, we reap reward 

through the onward sale of the oven-ready sites for development of varying sorts.  That is how you make up a 

large chunk of money to bridge the gap between the basic HIF money and what we need to spend in the long 

run.  That is the plot.   

 

Of course, land values in London are hugely difficult to predict at the moment.  You can ask one set of 

surveyors for a set of numbers and they will probably get different ones from another set three weeks later.  

Page 53



 

  
 

Again, that is subject to a degree of uncertainty and we will not be selling this stuff for quite a few years yet.  

An awful lot can happen in a few years. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Right, so what I am getting from you is a fairly rough and ready summary 

but a reasonably accurate one? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  You said it far more eloquently than I did but you know more about it than I 

do so that is fair enough.  The importance of the infrastructure then is key. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  I have done that as a segue, really, because the next section we are going to 

talk about is infrastructure and Assembly Member Pidgeon is leading on that.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Could I just pick up one question from the earlier discussion?  I understand you 

cannot give us the exact figure but, David, you are in discussion with the GLA for this money to underwrite the 

£250 million, but you also need money to help with cash flow.  Are we talking tens of millions?  Are we talking 

hundreds of millions?  Are you able to give us a flavour?  Particularly, can the GLA afford this given the GLA is 

stretched with the additional borrowing that it is funding for Crossrail? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Obviously the HIF submission that went in towards 

the end of last year [2018] only went in because the GLA was persuaded that it was a fundable and deliverable 

proposition from the GLA’s perspective.  Certainly, at that point the cash flow requirements were regarded as 

manageable.   

 

Now, as I have explained, it is a very complicated project.  It is quite unusual to have a project of this scale that 

is led by the public sector where at this stage the public sector has no position with regard to land.  The OPDC 

owns no land in its area.  That puts us in a slightly weak position, which is why so much of the HIF is allocated 

to land acquisition to deliver the uplift that Liz has talked about.  The questions around cash flow are 

complicated to unravel in the context of what has shifted quite dramatically in the last year or two around 

industrial land values, residential land values and build cost inflation.  There are some big questions that we are 

still working through about the correct procurement strategy and the balance that needs to be struck 

ultimately between doing deals to buy land or potentially doing fewer deals to buy land and maybe a little bit 

more money in infrastructure.  Certainly. we are talking to some of the major landowners like Network Rail 

about the options there.   

 

I am not going to sit here and say that there are not some major cash flow challenges because there very well 

could be and certainly the GLA Finance Team are putting those challenges back to me and back to Liz, but 

that then raises some really big questions for us, as I have described.  Do we need to think again about the 

procurement strategy for this?  Do we need to think about possibly a different relationship with the 

landowners?  We need to take account of all of the things that are moving around and some of the things that 

have changed since the original HIF submission was put together. 

 

That is probably not an entirely satisfactory answer because I cannot honestly give you a figure but, obviously, 

if we are talking about potentially increasing the risk to the GLA into a figure of, for instance, many hundreds 

of millions of pounds, then we are probably in a space where we cannot go given the exposure to the London 

Page 54



 

  
 

Legacy Development Corporation (LLDC), Crossrail and other things.  The challenge that I have, and the 

challenge that Liz and the Board, have is to find a route through this that can get us broadly back to some of 

the financial assumptions, at least, or the risk assumptions that were included at the time that the HIF 

submission was made. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You are coming into this role.  To be honest, the first I heard you were doing it 

was when I got my briefing through telling me you were Interim CEO so there is obviously a communication 

issue there.  You are in this role so you are bringing to it a complete challenge of all the assumptions and how 

you can get this to stack up, is that right? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  I think the challenge that Liz gave me was, “Look, 

if you are willing to come in and give some interim support to the organisation, the performance incentive is 

that if you can get the HIF conditions sorted out and landed then you can escape back to your day job”.  I see 

my role very much as trying to get a handle on those issues and get to a point where the GLA can be satisfied 

that the risk is bankable and that MHCLG is content to release the funding.  Then we can get the whole thing 

moving.  That is really what I have been focused on for the last three months now. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  I think it is also worth saying that there is an interesting sort of issue around 

the timing of all this.  Having the team work their socks off to get this HIF bid in in September [2018], then we 

had a very odd sort of six-month period while we were -- “sitting on our hands” is wrong, people were doing 

lots, but there was a lot of badgering MHCLG and badgering Homes England, “When is the answer going to 

come?”  Now, Mick [Mulhern, former Interim CEO] left us before we got the answer and so by the time I 

managed to persuade David to come in and help us out we had to almost, not “start again” but we had to 

re-evaluate all the assumptions we had made at the point at which we put the HIF bid in because six months 

had lapsed.  We knew at that point then we were going to get the half go-ahead.  Then we had to start and 

re-look at everything we had assumed back in September [2018].  Unfortunately, a lot changes in six months. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Let us think about the infrastructure.  I am not sure if you are going to be able 

to answer this but what is the expected total cost of the required supporting infrastructure over the life of the 

development? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  The number that we trot out in somewhat high-level strategic presentations 

for the whole thing over a period of 25 years is probably about £1 billion.  That is the number I tend to use as a 

proof of just how large and complex this particular site is.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  How much of this is going to be delivered directly by OPDC, or is that still -- 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Again, in a 25-year project there are lots of different ways of doing different 

phases of it.  I have always said and I am sure I have said to this Committee before that this is far too big a 

thing to swallow in one go.  You have to look at this in a number of phases.  We do not really know the shape 

of some of the future phases because they will be totally dependent on the delivery of the station and the 

release of some of the HS2 worksites around the station.  They in themselves, in 10- or 15-years’ time, will 

have a very different value to what they have now.  The HS2 station being there will also have an impact on 

land value.  You may be looking at a considerably larger yield on things like the Community Infrastructure Levy 

(CIL) which will help you fund the infrastructure.   

 

That is way downstream.  Our immediate problem is how we can stretch out £250 million to do the 

infrastructure necessary to unlock this phase 1A, which I have always quaintly called the “Northern Arch” but 

Page 55



 

  
 

ends up with about five different names.  It is this swathe of development around the northern part of the site.  

I have always believed that if we can get that done - and that in itself will take up to 2024 or 2025 - then you 

are looking at a significant enhancement in value of the rest of the site because also by then - again, fingers 

crossed - HS2 will be well out of the ground, the station will be a recognisable entity and that in itself will also 

have an impact on values.  This has to be a long-term play.  It is just about how you get that first bit started 

when the values are still very, very challenging. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It is incredibly complex.  I can picture what you mean by your arch from the 

map we have.  It is almost, if you did not have the Olympics, unlocking the sites that LLDC had without 

something like that to drive it. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Exactly, and if you look at the injection of funds that went into the Olympics 

to get the basic infrastructure in place -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, to clean the land and all that. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  It would be great.  We will have a fraction of that, thank you very much. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, but without something like that it is incredibly challenging.  You have 

mentioned the elephant in the room, HS2.  You are going to have this amazing station there. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  We hope. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  We hope.  Have you been involved in the design of this station?  Does it 

support your development plans?  How critical is this station to your plans of development? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Let me just put that in very broad context and then I will let David [Lunts] 

talk about the design because the team have been very closely involved and on an ongoing basis are still 

involved with HS2. 

 

The whole premise of OPDC as a Mayoral Development Corporation is based around the interchange between 

HS2 and Crossrail.  Now, if for any reason HS2 was cancelled - as I say, it is rather above my paygrade that the 

decision is going to be taken about HS2 - then the GLA and TfL would presumably take a view on whether 

they wanted a Crossrail station there.  I do not know what the answer to that is.  Personally, I think it would be 

a great idea but that is something TfL would have to think about.   

 

If you get neither of those then the rationale for OPDC does somewhat change.  It is still a great swathe of 

potentially valuable land in west London but if you are not going to have a station in the southern part of it 

then you might look quite differently at the phasing of any development of that area.  You might switch your 

attention to how you could create a brilliant transport hub over and around Willesden Junction, for example.  

That already has the transport infrastructure, it just has a rather limited station, but you could do a huge 

amount there.  Councillor [Saqib] Butt of [the London Borough of] Brent is extremely keen on seeing 

development in that end of the site, joining Harlesden up better with Willesden Junction.  These are all 

speculative discussions that are all totally dependent on politicians nailing HS2. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  No, absolutely.  I fully understand how crucial HS2 is but if there is no HS2, if 

that gets pulled, then you are going to have to rework -- 

 

Page 56



 

  
 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  There is serious rethinking to be done.  That is obviously, again, above and 

beyond my paygrade because that is something the Mayor and the Deputy Mayors involved in this will want to 

take a view on. 

 

Did you want to talk a bit about the station design and the work we have done with HS2? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Yes.  We have a very good relationship with HS2.  

We meet them very regularly.  The last meeting was the week before last and we had quite a long discussion 

about things like public realm and linkages because one of the big challenges around HS2 is getting over the 

railway infrastructure that is there.  It is one of the other massive challenges of OPDC’s area.  It is difficult to 

think of anywhere in the country, actually, that has more railway infrastructure that is going to have to be left 

in situ but worked around.   

 

HS2 is very committed, I am pleased to say, to a positive strategy around things like public realm, retail and 

creating a bit of a sense of a town centre around a station that ultimately will be larger than Waterloo.  This is 

going to be a very considerable investment.  It is worth saying as well that when Liz mentions the £1 billion of 

infrastructure that may eventually be necessary to unlock the entirety of the site that excludes the HS2 

infrastructure investment which is obviously very, very considerable. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  It is about £1 billion I think the station is costing, something like that. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Yes, something like that.  That needs to be 

factored in, really, and that inevitably is going to create quite a lot of development value that hopefully we can 

utilise to recover some of our costs.  As well as the big headline question that none of us have an answer to at 

the moment, which is, “Is HS2 going to proceed at all or is there a risk of cancellation?” the other issues that 

are obviously in play are that there is a great deal of work going on within the HS2 team to look at various 

options for value engineering to keep within their £56 billion budget.  That is one of the reasons why we have 

been very keen to remain very engaged, to ensure that that value engineering does not impact negatively on 

our plans and proposals for Old Oak.   

 

The other thing that is obviously worth mentioning is that at the moment, until the notice to proceed, the 

formal parliamentary Government notice to proceed is triggered, the main contract for works on HS2 cannot be 

let or activated.  That has now been postponed to December this year [2019] and that does start to raise some 

concerns, I think, certainly if there is an additional extension beyond that, as to at some point questioning 

whether the station can actually open within the timeframe that we currently know.  We obviously have a keen 

interest in that because - never mind the value engineering or the big meta question of cancellation - our plans 

at the moment are very contingent on the idea of a station opening in 2026.  If that were to move that would 

inevitably impact on our programme because we need the station to open to generate the accessibility and the 

value in the land.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you for that.  You talked about, over the project, £1 billion 

approximately being needed in infrastructure.  Is all of it essential or is it kind of, “This is the minimum we need 

and these are the nice-to-haves, the add-ons”, or is it pretty much the same thing?   

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  I think that £1 billion - and it is a bit of a wet finger in the air on that - is 

pretty essential.  I do not think we are doing much ‘nice to have’ because when you look at that site, you 

cannot get in and out of it at the moment other than over a couple of ghastly little footbridges that you would 

not dare walk over after dark.  The whole thing is locked in by railways.  You have to build bridges and tunnels 

Page 57



 

  
 

in order to get into the site.  We need to have power generation.  We have some very exciting plans to go for 

green energy and we would like to work with the Canal & River Trust to use the Grand Union Canal, but you 

still need to pay for the basic infrastructure.   

 

We have to acquire the land or we have to work in some way that the land can be brought in, but as 

David [Lunts] said, if we do a partnership agreement - for example, with Network Rail - and do not acquire the 

land then we would not benefit fully from the uplift we would get if we had acquired the land and been able to 

take 100% of the uplift ourselves.  That affects your overall equation for the site. 

 

I think our £1 billion is not over-egging it. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  I would just add as well that our assumptions 

behind those headline numbers are that as well as paying for the hard infrastructure to get roads and utilities, 

we also have some very ambitious plans around sustainable utility management.  We are very keen to see that 

the area really exemplifies some of the things in the new draft London Plan around water management, 

sustainable energy and so forth, so that is included in those numbers.  In addition to that there is a whole 

social infrastructure piece: new primary schools, ultimately a new secondary school and a lot of community 

facilities.  It is not just roads and electricity, it is also very much with an aim to community development as well. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  In terms of that wider infrastructure you still do not have, for example, nurseries 

and childcare provision in there. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  No, that is in there. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  That would be included in there. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  When I have asked before, it is not in there.  You have schools but you had not 

thought about it and actually if you want family-friendly housing it has to be right through from -- 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  There are ways and ways of ensuring that that comes in a development.  If 

you have a particular development plot then as part of your planning for that you might seek allocation of part 

of it for a nursery which could be privately run, which could be funded through Section 106 or through CIL.  

There are different ways of doing it.  We have not got to that level of granularity, but I agree with you, you 

have to have that sort of thing.  We are trying to build a community there.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Exactly. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  We are not trying to build a residential suburb where everybody leaves.  It is 

not just about residential, it is about jobs and therefore you need everything that creates what I view as a new 

district of London.  That is the ultimate prize.  You are absolutely right, we have to make sure we fund 

everything that is essential, or we have a system that allows for that to be funded. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  My other question really is around other stations.  There are two additional 

Overground stations.  It seems to me they are quite critical for your development.  TfL has said it does not 

have the money to pay for Hythe Road and Old Oak Common stations.  How are your discussions with that?  

Are you thinking that you would have to put the money in at some point?  Is this one of your huge risks? 

 

Page 58



 

  
 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  That has slightly taken me by surprise because I certainly thought 

Hythe Road was absolutely off the agenda given that TfL have said that they are not going to build it.  There is 

an issue about whether you would still turn the embankment on which the Overground runs into a viaduct 

because that would massively improve the way in which you could develop the land under it, but that is very 

much phase 1B because of course that is slap bang in the middle of the Cargiant land and that is where we 

have some slight problems with land ownership.   

 

I am afraid I do not know about Old Oak Common. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  So Hythe Road, you are saying, is off the table? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Hythe Road, as far as I can see, is off the table unless at some point in the 

future, if and when that larger phase of the site gets developed, whoever is developing -- you could do it as 

part of the CIL or part of the deal.  Certainly, TfL have made it quite clear that they are not paying for it 

because they have done the modelling and they do not believe that there is the demand.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, because they consulted on the two new Overground stations. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes.  I am sorry, this is slightly outside of my immediate expertise but I can 

remember the discussion we had with them and I thought, “Well, why are you consulting when as far as I can 

see, you do not have the proof in your modelling that you are going to be able to support it?” That was the 

Hythe Road one. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Old Oak Common station there is no money for either. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  I thought that was still a possibility but -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It may well be.  There are lots of things in TfL’s plans, they just have absolutely 

no cash for them.  How are you looking at it?  If you want that as part of your connectivity for your site and to 

increase land values, will you look to put money in?  Are you looking at -- 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  My understanding is that we do not view that one as essential as our 

development.  It would be a ‘nice to have’ but it is not essential. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Right, so those two may never happen then?   

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  At the moment, the way things are looking, I would have thought the 

probability of them happening is very slight. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That is fine, thank you. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I just wanted to ask, I know earlier on you said, Liz, that you were not able to release the HIF 

bid document because MHCLG were asking you not to, effectively.  Obviously in terms of infrastructure, we are 

very interested in the transport infrastructure part of that.  Is it possible to get the transport appraisal part of 

that released?  That would be very informative on its own without the HIF and because this is transport, none 

of this is private as such.   

 

Page 59



 

  
 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  In terms of the numbers, how you justify wanting an overpass or an 

underpass -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, essentially.  The cost-benefit analysis, the appraisal of the transport and the analysis 

there.  There have been issues with bids in other parts of the country where, for example, cycling was pulled 

out because it does not do very well in Department for Transport (DfT) analysis and therefore -- 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Your benefit to cost ratio (BCR) and -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, all of that.  It would be very useful to be able to see those parts of the document.  I do 

not know if you have a view on whether or not you are able to release those or whether or not DfT might 

control those.  They are usually quite good at releasing appraisals. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  No, DfT would not.  Those are our plans, submitted to MHCLG because they 

are the basis of our HIF bid.  I do not know.  I would have to take that one away.  I do not see any reason why 

we could not show what infrastructure we need to have around that Northern Arch.  It is quite clear in my mind 

and I have talked about it at conferences.  We have to have a bridge over the canal.  I then lose track of 

whether it is a bridge or an underpass.  We then need another bridge, underpass, bridge in order to actually get 

around the north of the site.  We need cycling and --  

 

Sian Berry AM:  The transport appraisal for costs. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Presumably the commercial parts of it are to do with the land assembly, the potential prices 

you wish to pay for land.  That is the commercial side of things, whether transport appraisals are usually fairly 

open and you do not -- 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes, and the infrastructure is what the infrastructure is.  That is what you 

need to get into the site and there are numbers attached to that, and the way the appraisal for the HIF bid was 

done obviously looks at how you use the money that is granted to us and how you can then supplement it by 

selling the land that was bought at some later phase in order to pay for the rest of the infrastructure.  On the 

infrastructure need, when you say “an appraisal on each piece of infrastructure” I do not think it quite works in 

that way.  The site does not work unless you actually have this infrastructure.  David, can you help me out on 

this? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  I will try.  Probably the most important place to 

look, actually, is the draft Local Plan and the transport appraisal work that was done as part of that because 

that is publicly available and that will obviously set the planning framework for everything we do. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes.  I am not asking you to tell me what transport is planned, I am specifically looking for 

the transport bid as part of the HIF.  I think that can be treated separately to the housing and land part of it. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  It depends.  I am not sure. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  I do not think there was a separate transport bid as 

such.  The bid document obviously has a section within it that deals with transport impacts and an approach to 

dealing with transport but to be honest it is fairly thin because what it sits on in terms of policy is what is 

Page 60



 

  
 

contained in the draft Local Plan policy around cycling and sustainable transport.  I am happy to look at 

whether we can release that bit but I think you may be slightly disappointed if you thought it was a huge great 

piece of work. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I would assume it would use standard DfT methodology, which would make it quite hefty.  

Maybe it is a supporting document.  That is really what I am interested in seeing. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  OK.  I will look at that and get back to you. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  We have talked a lot about the infrastructure.  We have not talked about 

how the infrastructure is being funded.  Assembly Member Duvall is leading on that. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Can I begin by congratulating you on the HIF?  It is better to have those 

challenges, albeit I recognise they are difficult -- 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  I am glad you see it like that. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  To be successful and to be recognised in that way, fine, and along comes 

with that the opportunity.   

 

Now, on the funding issue, I wonder if you can help the Committee, I am interested in the four-year first 

phase, I think you may call it.  We call it a Mayoral budgeting phase.  It is from now leading up to that period 

2022/23.  There are various gaps here.  Maybe you can help us about how we are going to bridge those.  If I 

set the scene and then I have some questions.  Let us see if our figures check with your figures in terms of 

assumptions. 

 

There is a bit of uncertainty in this first phase of funding.  You do not appear to have enough funding to cover 

the four-year Mayoral budgeting period.  The £549 million investment in this four-year budget period is only 

partly funded.  Apparently, you have found £313 million of the funding, leaving a gap of £237 million.  Of 

course, in terms of these gaps I probably ought not to worry; they are always there on some of these projects.  

As you said, Liz, this is a 25-year project and certainly things can shift within that four-year period, but can 

you then tell us, and you have covered it in part but if we can concentrate on the extent of the gap between 

OPDC’s ambitions and anticipated funding, along with how the funding risk is being managed.  Can you just 

explain that?  Are those figures something you recognise or have we slightly got them wrong in our 

background? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  I am not sure I entirely understand the figures 

there.  I have some figures of my own but they do not completely correlate. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Why do you not try your figures and we will try to work them through? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  If I understand the question, if the question is that 

there is obviously a larger capital sum required than we have cover for over the next four-year period -- is that 

broadly it? 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, broadly. 

Page 61



 

  
 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  That is probably true at the moment.  Our -- 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Just before you go into your explanation, what do you think your figures 

are then?  What figures are you working to in that four-year period? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  I am reluctant to be drawn on the numbers. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Why? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Because if I quote a number then it is likely to be 

quoted back to me, and it may be quoted back to me by those we are currently being challenged by.  I am 

slightly anxious therefore to be pretty cautious about sharing numbers, not least as well because any numbers 

are this stage are going to be very speculative for all the reasons that we have described.   

 

If the point is that there is a substantial gap, then I agree that there is a substantial gap that needs to be filled.  

The assumption in the HIF bid and the assumption that we have used to date is that those gaps in cash flow 

are going to be covered through deals on the land that we acquire.  So, a combination of CIL receipts because 

obviously we are the planning authority, the charging authority, and the value increase as a consequence of 

this investment in land, infrastructure, remediation and so forth should be sufficient to cover those gaps.  The 

question, of course, that sits behind that is: what is the risk around that?  Clearly there is a risk, which is why 

we are talking to the GLA and why we are looking again at whether we have the right approach to the 

relationship with key landowners and the right approach to procurement of a development or delivery partner.  

At this stage, I am not trying to evade the question but those questions are still very active and have not yet 

been resolved.   

 

I liken it in a way to another project that has a big cash flow problem which in my other job [as Executive 

Director of Housing and Land, GLA] I am very involved in, which is the Royal Docks.  The Royal Docks, as we 

know, is London’s only Enterprise Zone.  The Mayor and the GLA have signed off on a delivery programme 

which is somewhere north of £300 million.  They have done that because the Mayor was convinced that 

although there is risk around it, the income from the Enterprise Zone uplift in business rates is sufficient over 

time to repay that investment and without that investment you do not get the increase in business rates.  That 

risk was assumed to be or has been judged to be a sensible one because it not only regenerates the Royal 

Docks but generates the income we need to repay the debt to the GLA. 

 

I think in some ways OPDC is similar.  Obviously it is not an Enterprise Zone.  There is no retention of business 

rates, certainly not at the moment, although that might be an interesting question for the future in terms of 

looking to bring in additional revenues.  The assumption we have made thus far is that our upfront investment, 

which is very welcome, the £250 million, we do not need to repay that.  The gap is not going to be business 

rate income in this case, it is going to be development deals and land receipts. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Of course, that £250 million of the HIF money will go to purchasing land.  

Do we at this stage have an idea of how much of that land we are going to be purchasing? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Yes, we do.  We know that we are looking at a 

number of key sites in, as we have described it, phase 1A, the Northern Arch as Liz [Peace] has described it.  

That includes some of the major Network Rail sites.  One of those is a large site currently occupied by a metal 

reprocessing plant.  We think that has capacity for around about 1,500 homes.  We are also aware that there is 

Page 62



 

  
 

a whole string of other, smaller land interests.  There is land that is currently in the ownership of [the London 

Borough of] Hammersmith and Fulham.  All of this land at the moment is designated for industrial use.   

 

Our assumption has been that we can acquire that land effectively at existing use value plus a modest premium 

and that the development value associated with high-quality residential development, with all this new 

infrastructure, will give us a substantial uplift.  That is the assumption we have made and that assumption, we 

hope, will be sufficient to address the cash flow needs and satisfy the GLA that is a risk worth undertaking.   

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  You mentioned the challenges that you face and presumably they will end 

up legal challenges.  Will you have to show some of those assumptions and what the proceeds of the disposals 

will bring in at that stage?  Is your reticence about coming forward and telling us the exact amounts that you 

are working on in bridging the gap? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Well, as I say, part of the issue at the moment is 

that, to be perfectly honest, I do not have a firm set of figures even for internal purposes.  We are still 

analysing, for instance, the property cost estimate, which is the benchmark that we are using for analysing the 

likely land acquisition costs.  I think we are fairly close to that now, but the figures are moving around 

depending on what we assume to be movement in industrial land prices over the next period, and ditto on 

infrastructure costs.   

 

The Committee may be aware that in terms of satisfying or settling the final alignment of, for instance, the 

east-west road, one of the judgments that we need to make is, “Can we ensure that we have an alignment that 

delivers our development objectives and our commercial objectives whilst at the same time minimising the 

impact on existing businesses and particularly minimising the impact on those businesses that may be in a 

position to challenge what it is we want to do, either at the planning inquiry, the EiP, or at a subsequent 

compulsory purchase order (CPO) inquiry.  Until we have resolved that, where this road is going to go and 

where the utilities are going to go, it is quite difficult to get a firm figure on the infrastructure costs.  What I 

can say is, as we have all acknowledge, that there is going to remain a cash flow challenge, but I am really 

reluctant to put numbers to that at the moment. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Let us go back.  I suppose we are looking for reassurances that you have 

plan As, plans Bs and plan Cs and that somehow they are all going to add up and come together, and that the 

gap does not stop what is a new quarter where people will work, live and play, to be honest.  In that four-year 

period that I have mentioned, it is probably too early to start saying when you expect to start receiving 

disposable proceeds, is it not?  Where would it be if all things were normal and going swimmingly well, if that is 

the right phrase?  I do not know.  When would you expect to see some proceeds coming back into the 

organisation?  Along with that, paint some pictures for us about how you manage those cash flow issues when 

you require some of that infrastructure that needs to be paid for.   

 

I think what we want to know is about -- there is infrastructure you cannot not do, that has to happen, and if 

you miss out on that or the money is not there to do it that is going to be a detriment to the regeneration of 

this area, is it not?  It could have significant time issues, either saying, “Yes, we are going to do this in 25 

years”, or it becomes 35 years or longer.  Paint some pictures for us around that, or is that too difficult? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  It is probably fair to say that there are one or two early wins that, if we can 

get our plan through its EiP, we could proceed with.  For example, we are already on site at something called 

Oaklands South, which is a site on Old Oak Lane.  I say “we”; in fact this is a Network Rail site where Notting 

Hill Genesis are doing a development.  Now, there is a further tranche of Network Rail land and if we could nail 

Page 63



 

  
 

the agreement with Network Rail fairly quickly we could acquire the site and get planning permission sorted.  

That could proceed quite quickly.  That would be an early win.  It also makes a lot of sense because it is largely 

an extension of Oaklands South.  We call it Oaklands North.   

 

Now, there are a few complications in that you need a bridge from that site over the canal to the north of the 

canal but there is no reason you could not start the development before you have started the bridge because it 

has perfectly good access onto Old Oak Lane, as long as you retained the area you need for the bridge to land.  

The added complication and one of the reasons it has taken a while for us to get to grips with Network Rail on 

this is because they also need to retain a small part of the site for their lorries to come in and access the railway 

line.  I cannot remember which railway line it is.  There is a railway line close by which they need to access.   

 

That is the sort of example where you could get cracking fairly quickly once we have nailed the EiP, and that is 

indeed in the sequencing of expenditure and income that we have shared, a very speculative draft one, with 

MHCLG and Homes England. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  We have some questions coming up on that later on.  Given these gaps 

then, David, you mentioned the possibility of one way of funding it.  Should it be another Enterprise Zone?  

Do they exist or do they not exist now under this new regime or under the future regime, I do not know which?  

Is that a way forward? 

 

Where are we on borrowing?  See, I am keen to pursue what accelerates issues.  There are some key decisions 

that you outlined earlier on.  This scheme has to survive a few downturns, does it not?  There may be one very 

soon, depending on what the state of Brexit and the international markets are.  It could be a combination of 

two.  The question then is - and maybe it is to you, Liz - what other issues have you considered?  Where are 

we on borrowing within the organisation?  Have there been any discussions with the Mayoral office that this 

could be an option to look at in terms of keeping this project on track and taking some of those key decisions, 

Liz, that you said?  What conversations have taken place at this stage?  If it was possible, when does that come 

in on timescales? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  As I am sure Members will be aware, the GLA is 

quite heavily indebted.  There is a prudential borrowing code that obviously is going to put some constraints 

on what core GLA is able to fund, but I think there is scope, as we have already discussed, for GLA to accept 

some risk around this project and indeed it would have to because that is part of the assumptions behind the 

HIF submission, certainly the £250 million. 

 

In addition, you are right, Len, I think there are some interesting options here, which is one of the reasons why 

I said earlier that we should not rule out possibly a slightly different approach to procurement and 

development partnerships here.  If we have a sum of £250 million that we can invest in land and infrastructure, 

one way of allocating that and accelerating the project is to buy land and develop infrastructure ourselves as a 

public sector and then sell parcels of land to get our money back and more.   

 

That is a perfectly valid, credible way to proceed but it is just possible that another way to proceed might be to 

say, “We have £250 million.  Maybe there is an option to look at some partnership arrangements with others”.  

We have already talked about Network Rail as a major landowner.  There is certainly a discussion that is worth 

having about at what stage you bring in a third party to help with the overall development who might be in a 

position to share some of the risk around infrastructure and land preparation.  You are absolutely right that 

there are opportunities in both the private sector and indeed the public sector these days to look at some quite 

innovative forms of investment and loan finance.   

Page 64



 

  
 

 

The good news about the HIF is that it is not actually repayable as long as it is invested in the way that the 

submission set out, but we are aware obviously that there are other loan funds.  The GLA makes use of them.  

The Government has quite extensive loan funding ability through Homes England and other devices.  There are 

possibly some ways to stretch this money a little bit further and start to look at de-risking some of that cash 

flow, which is another reason why we probably need another look at some of the assumptions we have made 

before we finally settle things both with the GLA because it is going to ask us those questions and also with 

the Government because it is going to require an answer to how we fund that cash flow before the HIF 

conditions can be met. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  My last question: in terms of phasing and funding some of the key 

infrastructure developments, it is better to have those in this four-year phase at least ready to go than 

fragmented in part or elements, is it not, and they are some of the decisions?  You could pull back and say, 

“We are going to cut back on that and not do X or not do Y but we will do A, B and C”. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  It would be very difficult to do any of the -- pretty much barring this 

Oaklands North development, I cannot really see how we could do any of the development around that 

northern arch without the key pieces of infrastructure.  If you take the European Metals Recycling (EMR) site, 

the current - not exactly owners; some people with a legal interest in it - are really keen to crack on and 

develop it.  You cannot get in and out of it.  You cannot do a development if people cannot actually access it 

easily and you have sensible means of both pedestrian cycling and vehicular access.  I am sure you know the 

site probably as well if not better than I do.  That whole area would be very difficult to open up for residential 

development without putting in principally the transport infrastructure.  You are on numbers at that stage 

where you do not trigger some of the broader social infrastructure because we are still at a relatively small 

number, but it would be a great start.  You have to put those roads and bridges in. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  From what I am hearing from you this morning, I think I would not be sleeping 

at all if I were managing all the risks that you are, quite frankly. 

 

Looking at your corporate risk document around the issue of funding and finance, it is really concerning that it 

is rated very severe, red, in your latest assessment.  It is basically saying that potentially you have, as we have 

discussed, insufficient financing and funding to do what you want to do.  How are you managing that? 

 

One of the areas I was reading about is that the OPDC has targeted a number of London Economic Action 

Partnership (LEAP) programmes - and we heard from the LEAP last week at the [London] Assembly - to gain 

funding including the Good Growth Fund to deliver early activation projects in the Scrubs Lane area, for 

example.  We know that that pot of money and some of the European funds that the LEAP manages, certainly 

from 2023, are going to shift to some other fund and we are not quite sure whether London will have proper 

access to that. 

 

What is your contingency planning there?  This surely could have another impact on your finances to deliver, in 

whatever number of phases, your project? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  You will have to help me on the assumptions we made about LEAP funding 

because I was not aware that that figured in our discussions.  Yes, we have been fortunate enough to get the 

Good Growth Fund and the Greater Places.  I always get those two muddled up.  The Good Growth funding we 

Page 65



 

  
 

have been very grateful for but it is relatively small and it is about, as you described, an early activation of 

placemaking improvements, which could be very helpful in allowing us to open up the Scrubs Lane side of the 

development.  We already have a number of planning applications that have been granted there.  I have had 

some interesting discussions with two of the developers asking why they are not getting on with it.  Again, 

some of this comes back to the ambiance and the infrastructure.  If we could use that that Good Growth 

funding to make some improvements in Scrubs Lane, then they might be a little more inspired to get on with 

their development.  It all helps.  However, I did not think we were planning on Good Growth or LEAP funding 

in the bigger-picture stuff? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Yes, Liz is completely right.  It is great that we 

have Great Places money.  It is great that we have Good Growth money.  These relatively small amounts of 

money are really important in terms of catalysing community confidence and some early wins because we do 

not need vast new road infrastructures and utilities to do these things.  Anyone who takes an hour or two to 

wander around the area will realise that there are some fantastic opportunities here with the canal front and 

some great spaces like the Scrubs itself, which are really underused and in very poor condition.  This is really 

about trying to create some local confidence and some local amenity, which we think is really important.  We 

have spent a lot of time this morning talking about big developments and big infrastructure.  This is just as 

importantly a project that is about community benefit and local confidence in our plans.  That is where this 

money can trigger some benefit. 

 

Although these sources of funding are at risk - and you are quite right, Caroline, and that is why it is red risk 

rated - we ought to be reasonably confident that funds like this will continue to exist.  The support we are 

currently enjoying from the three boroughs at leader level and the support that we are getting - and we are 

doing a lot more work to encourage that support - from organisations like the Canal & River Trust, the Grand 

Union Alliance and other local interests ought to put us in a strong position for competing for these funds in 

the future, particularly as some of the more strategic changes, hopefully, start to reveal themselves.  If and 

when we do end up with a firm commitment to a new railway station and interchange larger than Waterloo, this 

is going to be an absolutely fundamental change to west London, the sort of thing that we have not seen in 

this city in public transport terms for well over a century.  We are confident that we will be in a powerful 

position to bid for more of these funds as they come through. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I know your strategic review recommends pressing the Government for more 

funding and devolution of finance-raising powers to help cover your funding gap identified in your financial 

modelling.  Can I have an update on how you are getting on with those discussions with the Government? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  The first phase of the discussion with the Government was all about nailing 

the memorandum of understanding (MoU) regarding the Network Rail land. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  We will come on to that in a second. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  We pursued that with the DfT at a very high level and Network Rail has 

played very honestly and straightforwardly by the MoU.  All we need to do is to nail the value and get on with 

it. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  We are going to get on to land in a minute.  It is the financial modelling that is 

in your -- 

 

Page 66



 

  
 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes, but I was at great pains when I first took on this job to say that we 

should not belittle the value of the MoU.  That was effectively the only dowry that the OPDC had.  There was 

not anything else. 

 

On the wider issue about persuading the Government to put more support into this, the HIF bid was the first 

stage of that.  If we are going to find that some elements of our HIF bid will come unstuck because of the 

funding gaps, then we have to pursue discussions with other parts of the Government, with Homes England, 

with the Treasury.  There are pots of money around but that is all contingent on our working out exactly what 

we need. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  What about the devolution of finance-raising powers?  That was also in your 

strategic review.  Have you made any progress on that? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  I see that as part of the wider funding for London argument.  Certainly I 

was -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It is not something you are specifically pursuing even though it is in your 

strategic review? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  What I have been pursuing and what the team has been pursuing is 

discussions with the boroughs about how we might manage some element of the business rate.  That has been 

slow going because, not surprisingly, the boroughs have a very strong view that they would like to use it all 

and my view is rather that if there is going to be development there that we have prompted, then we ought to 

get a share of it.  I have always thought that some element of the enhanced business rate that arises from 

development ought to come back into the project. 

 

I have not pursued with the Government any further devolution of financial powers because I would not get 

very far because, frankly, the Mayor is having that having that debate with them. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Finally, there are clearly huge funding risks here that you are managing and so 

on, but how do you communicate this with the Mayor? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  I meet David Bellamy [Mayor of London’s Chief of Staff] on a regular basis, 

two or three times weekly.  In fact, the Chief Executive and our Chief Finance Officer and I go along and we 

meet David in company with Jules [Pipe, Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills], who also 

attends, and Mary Harpley, the Chief Officer.  Then I meet the Mayor as and when I need to and I ask to have 

a session with him.  In fact, we are having a discussion with him probably sometime in the next week or so, just 

to discuss some of these broader funding issues. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Did you provide written briefings to David Bellamy on the risks you are 

managing? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes, and of course Jules is a member of our board. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That is helpful.  Thank you. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Therefore, he receives all our board papers, risk registers and everything else. 

 

Page 67



 

  
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Lovely.  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Before we move on, Members, we have just been joined by children and 

staff from Manor Longbridge School in Barking and Dagenham.  Hello to all of you.  I hope you are having fun 

at City Hall today. 

 

We are now going to move on and talk about the land ownership angle.  Assembly Member Berry is leading on 

that. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I wanted to ask about, first of all, the public sector land that is about 70% of the site.  There 

were proposals for land transfer set out in the 2016 spring budget and then in the MoU, to which you have 

already referred, with the DfT that mainly concerned Network Rail land.  Why has it taken so long to complete 

this when it is all just bits of the public sector? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  I do not know.  That is the answer.  I must admit I have been quite frustrated 

that we have not been able to nail this rather more quickly, especially since we did get, as I was explaining to 

Caroline [Pidgeon MBE AM], the DfT agreement that we should proceed to implement the MoU.  There was 

always a slight concern that that may be taken off the table and I was very concerned that it should not be 

because, actually, as I said, it was our only dowry.  There was no other injection of public funding at that stage. 

 

There are one or two challenging operational issues.  When you are talking about Network Rail land, dealing 

with its land people is one thing but the land people then have to deal with their engineering people, who can 

always think of 50 good reasons why they need three inches of it to do something.  Sorry, I jest.  It is all, I am 

sure, very essential.  However, at this Oaklands North site I was talking about, for example, there was this issue 

of the operational side of Network Rail being absolutely clear about what bit of it needed to be retained to 

have this turning space for the lorries.  I get deeply frustrated by the detail of that. 

 

Partly, to be honest, as well our team got so focused on the HIF bid and spent such a lot of time and effort 

putting the HIF bid together that we possibly took our eye off the ball in terms of pursuing the negotiations 

with Network Rail.  David [Lunts] and I have picked up on those again recently and we are having ongoing 

meetings with their head of property. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  We have seen in other parts of the public sector - for example, the National Health Service 

(NHS), the hospitals - the Mayor getting involved and there being quite a quick deal.  I can understand what 

you are saying about the engineering issues being the key thing because it is -- 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes.  There is no excuse, really.  I regret that we have not been able to nail 

this as quickly as we should have done.  We need to -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  When it comes to whether we can access a bit of track that we need to maintain, those are 

details that need to be ironed out and something where somebody ought to be wading into the detail because, 

without that, they are not going to sign off, are they? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  I absolutely agree with you.  Yes, it is something we should have progressed 

more quickly and something that David [Lunts] and I are both conscious of.  We would like to crack the whip 

and get on with that now. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  David, are you putting staff onto this?   

Page 68



 

  
 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  My team is meeting David Biggs, who is the Head 

of Property at Network Rail, as we speak, actually.  Yes, this is a top priority for us. 

 

To be fair as well, the other issue has been that in the absence of funding, maybe some people have taken the 

view that these issues are slightly hypothetical because you can crack an MoU but if you do not have the 

money to buy the land, it is all slightly meaningless. 

 

Liz is right.  I would feel more comfortable if we were a bit further ahead than we are at the moment, but we 

are engaging very directly. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  There is also another practical difficulty because there are two sites we have 

our eye on and which I would like to see progressed as rapidly as possible.  The first is quite straightforward, 

subject to this turning circle, which seems to have taken a huge amount of time. 

 

The other one is the EMR site, the one with the metal recycling facility on it.  That is a complicated series of 

land interests because, even though it is Network Rail, there is a tenant on the site who still has a number of 

years left.  EMR has about 10 years left on the lease.  Another party has an interest in that lease and this is 

going to make this a quite complicated transaction.  These sorts of things take a lot of time to unravel.  The 

other party - it is perfectly public knowledge and so I might as well say so - is Queens Park Rangers (QPR) 

Football Club with a Chairman who has views on what we should do about it.  It is not quite as straightforward 

as just buying it off Network Rail.  We have to unravel some quite complex property interests there. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  The property interests and deal-making is high-level stuff.  What I was really asking about 

the staff was, once you get down to the level of the turning circle and how we get into this bit of the track, 

you need detail people further down, do you not?  You need a bigger team working on this if you are going to 

unravel the engineering issues?  They are very practical and they need the people -- 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes, and you need the people on the other side who can have the discussion. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, the high-level people can -- 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  It takes a long time to get to the other people on the other side.  Network 

Rail has its own hierarchy.  It has its land and property people who have to consult its engineering people.  

That in itself appears to take a long time.  I am not blaming Network Rail.  That is just the way it works.  Yes, 

the problem was in the detail.  Frankly, we just, at the time we were putting the HIF bid together, did not focus 

sufficiently on this with our people. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes.  I am saying this because in the [London Assembly] Housing Committee we have been 

talking to TfL about its issues with developing its land and quite often that is adjacent to or overlapping 

Network Rail land.  We have talked about these specific issues.  They have quite a large team trying to drill 

down on these issues.  I am just asking if it has been staffed enough? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  It is interesting that the person who probably knew more about these two 

sites than anything went off to work for TfL but, as David [Lunts] said, has now come back to work for us.  

Hopefully, she can pick this up as rapidly as possible. 

 

Page 69



 

  
 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  I will just add another point.  I have the scars to 

prove various engagements with Network Rail in London over recent years and one of the real frustrations is 

that until you have quite a detailed development scheme - you know exactly where your roads are likely to be, 

you know what your development plots are likely to be, you know what the building heights are likely to be, 

you know what your building-over agreements need to look like in terms of getting over tracks and things - it 

is incredibly difficult to engage meaningfully with Network Rail because what they will say is, “Come back 

when you have a scheme”. 

 

At the moment, of course, we do not have schemes.  At the moment, we do not even have a firm agreement or 

decision about where our main road alignments are going to be because that is still subject to consultation 

with landowners.  We still need to finalise a decision with the Board.  Until we have those things pinned down 

and we know exactly where the bridge over the canal is going to go and what impact that might have on the 

Network Rail land, in a sense it is really very difficult because Network Rail’s operational teams simply will not 

engage.  They will say, “Come back when you are ready”. 

 

To be fair to the team, it has been a struggle to get that level of engagement in a meaningful sense because 

we just do not have our plans precise enough yet.  That is really what we are working to do now. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Does the delay in transferring the land create any further delays?  It sounds like things 

depend on each other in a way that seems -- 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  No, that is not actually an issue because we have so much planning to do for 

the infrastructure that if and when we get to the point where we are ready to go, we will have sorted the land 

issue out by then. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  The money you need to spend on the land transfer is time limited, is it not?  That is the risk. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes.  I always thought that actually it was quite a useful strategy to use some 

of the HIF money on land purchase because, in a way, you are banking.  You can go out and buy the land, you 

spend the HIF money and then, when you sell the land later on, effectively you are recycling that HIF money 

but that could be after 2024 and you have to have spent it by 2024.  Land purchase is quite a sensible thing to 

do. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, but if you cannot buy the land until you have made a detailed plan enough to go to 

Network Rail to -- 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes, you do get into this incredibly -- yes, but I am sure we could bring to 

fruition some of the sites.  There is an added complication on the EMR site because of the different property 

interests, but I still remain of the view that that is a plausible way of proceeding. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I want to move on to talk about the Cargiant site, which has come up a couple of times.  

They seem to be rather digging their heels in now.  They are challenging the CPO process.  They are saying 

that this needs to be stopped.  They have said some things that it is hard to see how they can be resolved 

about the fact that they cannot move to a new site now.  Their window for relocation is closed.  That is how 

they are putting it. 

 

What can be done about that?  I do not know if we can get into the case, as it were, but it is hard to see how 

you can win a CPO if you are basically closing down that business. 

Page 70



 

  
 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  David [Lunts] will chip in here because we have spent a lot of time pondering 

this over the last couple of months.  At the point at which we put the HIF bid in, the proprietor of Cargiant was 

a willing supporter of what we were doing.  He had always worked on the assumption that he would be able to 

relocate his business and that he would then masterplan the development of his own site and that that 

masterplan would fit in with our broader development. 

 

To be absolutely fair to Geoff Warren [Owner, Cargiant], he has discovered how difficult acquiring an 

alternative site for his business is.  The rise of values of strategic industrial land in west London has not hugely 

helped.  He has come to the view - and I am putting words in his mouth but this is what we understand - over 

the last few months that he no longer wants to relocate and would rather just sit tight and run his business. 

 

The line we have taken so far is that we would like to develop our phase 1A and do it in a way that minimises 

impact on his business.  That is a source of debate with him at the moment.  We believe it is possible.  He is 

saying it is not.  We are still working on that.  I would like to believe there is an element of compromise 

possible.  There is a quite a lot of land in that phase 1A that indeed is in his ownership and is used for a range 

of different purposes at the moment.  That is something we would have to work through and I would like to 

think we would succeed in reaching a compromise on that. 

 

That leaves the bulk of his site, which we call phase 1B, and it is quite clear that he is not going to allow that 

to be brought forward for development or he is not going to bring it forward for development himself.  We 

have to play a waiting game on that because we are not ready to do it yet anyway.  An awful lot is going to 

happen about relative land values in west London over the next 10 years anyway.  We do not know where an 

awful lot of things will be in 10 years.  I think provided we can crack on and work around the Cargiant 

ownership for the time being, we are keeping our options open for the future when values may be very 

different. 

 

Maybe at the very end of the day we do have to contemplate a compulsory purchase of his site, but again by 

then values would be a lot different because we will, hopefully, have a station in the south, we will have 

development in the north and there will be this chunk of land in the middle that will look very different to what 

it does now. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  The cost of the CPO purchase would be higher in that circumstance.  David, you are in 

charge of housing and land in London.  Is there anything that can be done by talking to other landowners or 

assisting Cargiant or just simply proving that they could move somewhere else? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  I do not have an awful lot to add to what Liz has 

said because she has summarised it very well.  It is very unfortunate that Cargiant has shifted position.  In some 

respects, that is the biggest challenge that we have now.  Cargiant is at the moment still a very viable business.  

The OPDC has a difficult balancing act here because, on the one hand, clearly, our plans involve the Cargiant 

land coming forward in due course for residential and commercial development but, on the other hand, none 

of us wants to see a large-scale business employing 700 or 800 people being extinguished.  It probably is a 

matter of a waiting game. 

 

On the other hand, assuming that we do actually see a station developed here, which is going to be larger than 

Waterloo Station and will carry similar numbers of passengers, I am not sure it is easy to envisage 20 or 30 

years after such a station being opened and thriving having quite so much land surrounding it occupied by a 

Page 71



 

  
 

businesses that is buying and selling cars.  It just does not really feel like a sensible fit.  Going back to Liz’s 

point, in due course it does seem to me that those things will get resolved. 

 

In the meantime, because we do have some time to wait, our prime focus at the moment is unlocking the HIF 

money and getting phase 1A away.  We can play a bit of a waiting game and see where things move over the 

next few years. 

 

In terms of your broader question, if I understand it, or your more direct question on whether access to funding 

and resources from Housing and Land help to address some of these gaps and difficulties, the answer is, yes, 

obviously, it can.  We have not only mainstream affordable housing money but we also have not inconsiderable 

sums of money now allocated for land purchases, joint ventures and partnerships.  In actual fact, in the other 

part of my life, Housing and Land now has a budget that is almost double the £250 million of HIF specifically 

to bring housing sites forward through land deals, loans and investments. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  The point I was making was that you are very aware of the land around London.  You 

probably know every inch of it, I would have thought.  Have you personally talked to Cargiant since you took 

over? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Yes, I have.  Geoff Warren, the owner, whom I 

have got to know reasonably well, says it is actually very difficult to find 50-odd acres of contiguous land to do 

the sorts of things that he needs to do.  He is right about that.  It is not easy to see 50 acres of land where you 

can do the kinds of things that he needs to do with his cars and so I accept that.  However, as Liz says, there 

may be opportunities in the future to look at different ways for him to organise his business.  That is 

something that we are certainly interested in talking about.  He has a very successful business there at the 

moment that has come together on the basis of acquiring - and I do not mean it pejoratively but in an 

opportunistic way - a number of sites in a location on which, if you were starting from scratch, you might look 

to do things differently.  You might be able to organise land a bit more differently. 

 

This is a conversation that will evolve.  So long as we can get the momentum behind our project, I am pretty 

confident that there will at some point be a resolution to the Cargiant issue. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Finally, to ask about - I know you mentioned it earlier on - QPR, can you outline what land 

interests they have in the area and what the current position is on the potential relocation of their stadium? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  The answer to that is no because I do not know what their current plans are 

on relocating their stadium.  What I do know is that it does not involve any OPDC land.  That is why I am not 

party to their thoughts on that.  My understanding -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Sorry.  Can you outline what land holdings they have?  You said that they have part of the 

metal -- 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Again, not in totality because I understand that they have a number of 

interests that are -- you would have to burrow down into the Land Registry.  They have certain small sites that 

are within our area but they are not big enough for a football ground.  To some extent, what they have done is 

to buy up land as, I guess, the potential for a bigger land assembly piece which did not happen and so they 

now still have interests in certain sites.  They own a chunk of the Cumberland Business Park, for example. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Yes, that is right. 

Page 72



 

  
 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  However, as I say, you could not put a football stadium on that.  They are a 

landowner with a number of smaller sites and then they have a particular interest in the EMR site in terms of a 

deal that they have done with the current occupant.  Again, we are not party to the details of that deal.  We 

just know it is a complicating factor in acquiring the site. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Their current plans are potentially to just redevelop the Linford Christie Stadium?  Do they 

own that? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes, but it is not part of the OPDC. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  It is just below in Wormwood Scrubs, yes. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes.  It is a little piece that is chopped out at the bottom of it and is a site 

owned by Hammersmith and Fulham, which, as I understand it, has very firm views about what it wants to see 

done with the site.  The negotiation is between QPR and Hammersmith and Fulham.  As David said, thankfully, 

that is one problem we do not have on our plate at the moment. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  David, Liz, you both mentioned the fact that discussions with Cargiant have been a 

bit productive and you are trying to move forward, but the fact is that we are nearly three years down the line 

and there is still no resolution on that land transfer.  Both you and Cargiant have spent a lot of money looking 

at potential plans in terms of consultation and engagement with local residents and public money being spent 

on consultants bringing forward a plan.  You mentioned, David, that access to funding will help to push this 

forward.  The current value for a CPO of Cargiant is around £600 million and then all the additional canals, 

bridges and roads will be around £532 million.  We know there is not an endless pot to try to purchase and 

CPO your way out of this. 

 

As Assembly Member Pidgeon asked earlier, what is your plan B?  What if all those discussions fail and all the 

negotiations fall through and you cannot do a CPO?  What is plan B? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Plan B is the waiting game.  I mentioned that we cannot resolve this problem 

within the next couple of years.  That to my mind is absolutely clear because the proprietor of Cargiant has said 

he wants to stay put and we do not have the funds to CPO him.  The number you mentioned is probably pretty 

accurate in terms of extinguishing the business, which is why we want to work around him. 

 

Over a period of 10 years, you will start to see a substantial change in values in the area, which may cause the 

proprietor of Cargiant to change his mind again.  He has already started thinking he could develop.  Maybe at 

some point in the future when values are different he will decide he will come back to the development table.  

Many things may happen in the next 10 years in terms of both relative land values and car businesses.  It is a 

big car processing plant and I am not an expert in what is going to happen to the car business over the next 10 

years.  All we can do is play a waiting game and get on with what we can achieve around Cargiant. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  We are moving on to our final section now, which is around delivery.  

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Thank you very much.  There are a number of different areas where you have said, “We 

are not quite ready to talk about that yet”, or, “Network Rail has said, ‘Go away and come back to us when you 

Page 73



 

  
 

actually have a scheme’”, but you have touched a few times on the fact that there are aspects of the delivery 

that you must be talking to other people about and so I am assuming that you are engaging with potential 

delivery partners, even though we are still at the planning stage of the process.  I wondered if you could say a 

bit more about that engagement and perhaps who you have been engaging with?  You have mentioned 

Notting Hill Genesis.  I assume there are others in the frame. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Yes.  I am glad you have asked the question 

actually because I do not want the Committee to think that everything is a problem and nothing is happening. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  You are not just sitting around twiddling your thumbs? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Agonising?  No. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  We did not think that but it is good to clarify. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Thank you.  As Liz [Peace] has already mentioned, 

we think there is an early opportunity to bring the Oaklands North site forward, which is the piece of land that 

is owned by Network Rail at the moment, immediately to the north of the 650 homes that are on site with 

Notting Hill Genesis.  Really the big issue there is that we need to finally nail down the alignment for our road 

and bridge across the canal and that will then enable that site to come forward quite quickly.  That is maybe 

another 800 homes.  There is no reason why that cannot move relatively swiftly. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Who would you be talking to about those 800 homes? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  We are certainly talking to Notting Hill Genesis and 

QPR or Lancefield, which is the QPR property arm, because they are in a joint venture at the moment on 

Oakland South.  They are very keen to bring it forward.  Whether it will be them or whether it will go to a wider 

market process remains to be seen, but I am pretty confident that we can get those homes away relatively 

quickly. 

 

Then on the other side of the patch, the other end of the arch on phase 1A, there are quite a lot of 

opportunities to get some early development in and around Scrubs Lane on the east of the site.  Again, we 

know that the QPR property arm has some quite interesting land interests there and is are keen to bring some 

early development opportunities forward, which will be a few hundred homes.  Then, to the south, we have 

also been talking to another developer interest with similar aspirations a little bit further south on Scrubs Lane. 

 

There is no reason really not to be quite optimistic about the idea that we cannot get, I would have thought, 

maybe a couple of thousand homes away that are not entirely reliant on these big infrastructure challenges 

that we have spent most of this morning talking about. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  How attractive then would you say that the area is to potential developers beyond the 

select group that we have just mentioned?  The Mayor is looking for a high level of affordable housing on the 

site. 

 

We have not really discussed the condition of the site that much.  Given its background, I am assuming there is 

going to be some fairly serious ground remediation that is going to be required and so there will be some 

expensive matters that people, I would hope, would anticipate upfront, although bizarrely the people 

developing the Battersea Power Station had not worked out how filthy the land around a power station might 

Page 74



 

  
 

be and so that was more expensive than they anticipated.  There is going to be some expense and there is also 

going to be some value foregone because we are looking for affordable. 

 

Does that reduce the attractiveness of the site or are you feeling confident that you can get those 2,000 

houses away with a selection of people chomping to come and help you? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  I am pretty confident that those early-win sites can 

move at the pace that I have described because, although the area - let us be honest - is not the most 

attractive at the moment -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  No.  That is fair. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  -- in a way that is not unappealing for quite a lot 

of investors and developers at present because there is an affordability point that is quite popular in the 

market.  Willesden Junction is not the most attractive railway station on the network but it is a very good 

interchange and so access in and out of central London is very good.  Certainly all the conversations that I have 

had with potential developers recently on those early sites have caused me to feel quite confident.  They are, 

in the main at least with the exception of Oaklands North, in ownership or option agreements and so they are 

pretty much ready to go.  There is a lot of interest in long-term renting here.  On the western side of our patch 

we have the Collective, which are these quite interesting small studios.  Take a view about that but it has 

proved to be quite popular with -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Yes, know about the Collective because it is apparently wanting to do something in 

Earlsfield, which has created a bit of a stir.  That has not been entirely positive because of the size of the 

spaces involved.  ‘Shoebox’ was the word that was being thrown around.  There are ways of looking at it.  

Could you give us a clue, then?  How many developers have you actually spoken to now? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Let us broaden this out slightly because David has listed the people with 

whom we are in active discussion on Scrubs Lane, in fact, two of the developers already have planning 

permission.  They have been through our Planning Committee with the agreed level of affordable housing.  

The slight problem is that they have not started building them and that is actually pushing them to that point.  

Right over the other side of our site on the other side of Park Royal we have Fairview, which is doing a 

substantial development.  Somebody will help me with how many thousand homes are going in.  It is a very big 

site. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  On the Diageo site? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes, on the Diageo site.  Over the course of last summer, in preparation for 

our HIF bid, we have done a lot of what we would call soft market testing.  The development team went out 

and met a substantial number of developers - I should not list them - asking them for -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  No, but maybe give us a clue on numbers even without going -- 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  They must have spoken to seven, eight or nine developers.  I attended some 

of the meetings.  Some of those developers regularly ring me up and say, “What is happening?  Can we have 

an update?”  I shall certainly be showing them one or two of our indicative plans and numbers to see whether 

we can get them interested in coming in and sharing the risk.  There are plenty of people out there, big 

institutions, developers -- 

Page 75



 

  
 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  There are people following back after the soft market testing?  They are coming back? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes, they email us and ring us up, “How is it going?  Are you ready to talk 

with something a bit tougher?” 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  There is appetite there to work with you and move this forward, even though -- 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes.  When they have had a closer look at the numbers, some of them might 

find it challenging but, yes, this is seen as an Opportunity Area.  It is called an Opportunity Area for a reason.  

The industry is never slow to spot opportunities. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I did mention the fact that there is a risk in the sense of the level of ground remediation 

that will be required and examining the ground is always one of those things.  At this stage people probably 

have not done huge amounts of ground investigation.  There is also the reduction in terms of return on 

investment because of the social housing, if you want to look at it in that way.  There is risk both from the side 

of the OPDC - and David has already mentioned de-risking, joint ventures, innovative investment vehicles and 

so on and so forth - and also from the developers’ side.  Is there any thought about joint ventures to de-risk 

from both sides in that way or other vehicles that you might be looking at? 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Yes, all possibilities would be on the table.  This is where we have David with 

his experience of the Homes for Londoners programme and his Housing and Land team there.  They are very 

familiar with lots of different ways of cutting this.  Yes, we are not ruling out any possibility.  The idea of a 

joint venture and some degree of risk sharing is a very attractive one. 

 

I am just looking to Jasbir because she sits in the office and would know.  I am not aware that at the Oakland 

South site they had big contamination problems on that. 

 

Jasbir Sandhu (Interim Chief Finance Officer, OPDC):  No, they did not.  That was fine. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  They have gone on.  They have cracked on.  I am sure you have been down 

there and seen.  They are already very well advanced and I would hope at the Oaklands North site, which is a 

logical extension of that.  That does not have quite the same history.  The EMR site will be interesting, 

although Lancefield tells us that they have done exploratory work there and it is not.  I take all of that with a 

pinch of salt but, yes, of course you have to have that in mind.  That is always a risk when you are developing 

brownfield land. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Of course.  Earlier Assembly Member Bacon was asking about additional staff coming in 

at this point to help with the planning consents and this stage of things.  This might be one also to bring Jasbir 

in on as well.  Do you feel that you have the capability and capacity to deliver the project in terms of the 

investment side of things or will you be looking to bring in more people to assist Jasbir with what she is doing? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  It is a good question and to some extent it is going 

to depend on the route that we finally end up taking.  This goes to your last question as well.  In my 

experience, broadly speaking, you can do big complicated regeneration projects like this in one of two ways.  

There are lots of ways but crudely two ways.  You can do it a bit like the Olympic Delivery Authority (ODA) did 

Stratford and the Olympics, which was very much public sector led with very large budgets for preparing the 

land, buying the land and then creating effectively service development plots, which the private sector and 

Page 76



 

  
 

others then take; or you can work very early on with third-party private-sector or sometimes housing 

association interests in joint ventures and partnerships, which is probably closer to the model that we have 

used in Barking Riverside, the Royal Docks and elsewhere. 

 

One of the very interesting questions here is, given the money and the risk that we have here, is it necessarily 

the right thing to try to do the ODA approach or is it more sensible to try to do something that brings a partner 

in to help to share risk early on?  If we were to go down the second route, then some of those issues about the 

capability and experience that we need inside the OPDC team may look quite different because you would be 

assuming that quite a lot of that would come from your partner. 

 

That is why at the moment my mind is open.  We need to come to some conclusions about that pretty quickly 

but, as we have been discussing most of this morning, we have a project that, OK, is not as big as the Olympics 

and let us not pretend it is, but some of the challenges are almost as complicated and we do not have the 

billions of pounds of public money that were available back in the early 2000s or the mid-2000s. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I have two quick points, then.  When you are saying your mind is open now but we do 

need to decide soon, how soon? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  We have a Local Plan process, which is probably 

going to run through to the early part of 2020.  We will know by - I do not know - the early part of next year 

whether the planning inspector agrees that our plans should proceed at least at a strategic planning level. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Probably in the next nine or 10 months, then, we are talking? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Yes.  Alongside that process we need to refine our 

thinking because we need to nail the HIF issues.  We need to get the GLA comfortable.  We should obviously, I 

hope, assume that we get a positive outcome on the Local Plan then we should be ready to go.  My time 

horizon on is that we need to agree our investment development procurement strategies during the course of 

this calendar year. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  That is my second question because you just mentioned the GLA.  You said at the 

moment your mind is open but is your mind completely open or are there any imperatives that are flowing from 

the current cash flow and borrowing situation of the GLA that are impacting on the decisions that you might 

be making at the OPDC in the sense that the GLA has been taking on borrowing for other purposes?  Does 

that have an impact at all? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Yes.  I am minded to think that if you look at those 

cash flows and you look at the fact that HIF is capped at £250 million and you look at the GLA’s meta position 

on borrowing and risk, then it does look to me as though we need to look pretty carefully at whether we need 

some third-party sharing of that risk and additional investment to come in on terms.  That may require some 

public sector support as well and, as I have said, there are various investment funds that potentially can be 

tapped.  Often it is easier if those investment funds in other parts of the public sector are tapped by 

non-public sector organisations. 

 

Also, another aspect of this that interests me is that we really ought to have the confidence that there is going 

to be a level of serious market interest in this early on.  That is almost a litmus test for the project.  That is 

another reason why we might at least want to explore the option of bringing partners into this early on. 

 

Page 77



 

  
 

Leonie Cooper AM:  We have talked a bit about the private sector partners.  Have you been talking to TfL as 

well, for example? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  TfL has been in lockstep with us on this project 

because we have talked a lot about Network Rail but TfL has huge interests here, yes. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  They are part of the picture as well.  They are obviously part of the GLA family and so 

they would be very much part of any partnership arrangements that you finalise? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Indeed. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Thank you very much.   

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  In terms of delivery, again in your strategic risk document the 50% commitment 

to affordable housing is marked as red and it says: 

 

“The OPDC needs to rigorously challenge developer viability assessments and drawing on the support of 

a new expert team based at City Hall.” 

 

I am wondering who is funding this new team?  What is this team?  How is it functioning?  Is it helping you to 

get to that 50% affordable housing on the sites that are coming forward? 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  That is probably a reference to the viability team in 

the Planning Directorate, which was recruited a year or 18 months ago.  They do have a lot of experience and 

expertise at interrogating viability appraisals and squeezing the pips on affordable housing.  As you know, the 

OPDC in its draft plan has a very clear commitment to working to achieve 50% affordable housing.  We do not 

think that that is necessarily going to be achievable in the early phases and we have been very honest about 

that, but we have, as we have already heard, policy-compliant levels of affordable housing on Oaklands South 

and we will certainly be looking to achieve the same on the earlier development sites. 

 

Liz Peace CBE (Chair, OPDC):  Across the board of the planning permissions we have already given, we have 

about 39% affordable housing. In the Local Plan 50% is indeed the aspiration, but given the conditions and 

everything else, our own planners have done very well in driving a sensible level of affordable housing. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Is your planning team drawing on this new central team somewhere at City 

Hall?  I am quoting from your OPDC risk document. 

 

David Lunts (Interim Chief Executive Officer, OPDC):  Yes, certainly where there are major applications 

that are referable to the Mayor.  We would not normally engage the team on the very minor applications that 

come in, but for anything with any substance to it our planning team in the OPDC is in dialogue with 

Juliemma McLoughlin’s [Chief Planner, GLA] team here at City Hall. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It is just to try to maximise the impact of it, yes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Can we thank our guests for their attendance and contributions this 

morning? 

Page 78



                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 

Report to: Budget and Performance Committee  
 
Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 11 July 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out details of actions arising from previous meetings of the Budget and Performance 

Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Committee.  

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 11 June 2019 

Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Old Oak and Park Royal Development 
Corporation (OPDC) Risks  
During the course of the discussion, the 
Committee requested copies of the transport 
appraisal supporting the OPDC’s Housing 
Infrastructure Fund, and any Department for 
Transport analysis related to that. 
 
That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 
consultation with party Group Lead Members and 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree any output 
from the discussion at the meeting. 
 

 

 

Ongoing. 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing.  

 

 

 

 

 

Interim Chief 

Executive Officer, 

OPDC 

 

 

Senior Policy 

Advisor 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 4



Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 21 May 2019 

Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Transport for London (TfL) Capital Projects 
Delivery  
During the course of the discussion, the 
Committee requested the following additional 
information: 

 The number people that TfL’s have modelled 
in London as requiring step free access; 

 A breakdown of the schemes that make up the 
Growth Fund; 

 Number of home starts on TfL land, including 
affordable starts, to date against the target on 
10,000 by 2021; and 

 Detail of the lobbying done by TfL on the 
extension of Crossrail to Ebbsfleet, as well as 
the current timetable for that work. 

 
That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 
consultation with Party Group Lead Members and 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree any output 
from the discussion. 

 

 

 

Ongoing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Director of City 

Planning, TfL; and 

Investment 

Delivery Planning 

Director 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Senior Policy 

Advisor 

 

 

 

 

 
3. Legal Implications 
 

3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None. 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5525 

E-mail: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 80



 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: TfL Capital Projects Delivery 

Report to: Budget and Performance Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 11 July 2019 

 

This report will be considered in public 
 

 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides information on the Committee’s consideration of Transport for London’s (TfL) 

capital projects delivery.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to guests from 

Transport for London (TfL) on delivery of the TfL capital programme, and notes the 

subsequent discussion. 

  

3. Background 
   
3.1 This meeting will be the second of two in a proposed investigation into TfL’s capital projects 

delivery. TfL have one of the largest capital investment programmes in the country. However, as 

Crossrail has demonstrated, even the most extensively resourced and high profile projects can have 

delivery issues. TfL are spending significant amounts on capital investment every year, but is London 

getting what has previously been promised or what it actually needs?  

 

3.2 The Mayor made a point of highlighting in the latest TfL Business Plan that the level of capital 

expenditure will be maintained over the next three years. However, this is in the context of a number 

of capital schemes being delayed or cancelled. With no new capital initiatives announced, this would 

imply that the costs of existing capital projects is escalating.  

 

3.3 TfL is responsible for keeping the transport network operating and, at times, this may conflict with 

delivering capital enhancement of the network. But with limited funding available, it is key that the 

focus on value for money is balanced with minimising the disruption to the network. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81

Agenda Item 5



        

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The following guests have been invited to attend the meeting. 

 Nicole Badstuber, Research Associate in Urban Infrastructure Policy and Governance, 

University of Cambridge 

 Stuart Harvey, Director of Major Projects, TfL 

 David Hughes, Investment Delivery Planning Director, TfL  

 Tanya Coff, Divisional Finance and Procurement Director, LU, TfL 

 Colin Porter, Former Chair IIPAG 

 

4.2  The topic for today’s meeting was agreed by the Chairman under delegated authority, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM. 

 

4.3 The proposed terms of reference for the investigation is assessing the value for money of TfL’s 

Investment Programme. The objective for London is that TfL are generating the greatest benefit 

from their available resources. Central to this is the idea of cost effectiveness – the optimal use of 

resources to achieve the intended outcomes. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 
 
6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  None 

 

Contact Officer: Gino Brand, Interim Senior Policy Adviser  

Telephone: 020 7983 5792 

Email: Gino.Brand@London.gov.uk    

 

Page 82

mailto:Gino.Brand@London.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Budget and Performance Committee 
Work Programme 

Report to: Budget and Performance Committee  
 
Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 11 July 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 

1. Summary  

1.1 This report sets out the proposed Budget and Performance Committee timetable for 2019/20. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Committee notes its work programme. 

 

3. Background   

3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting. 

This is the third such report for this Assembly year.  

4 Issues for Consideration  

4.1 During 2019-20 the Committee will scrutinise the Mayor’s 2020-21 budget proposals for the Greater 

London Authority (GLA) Group on behalf of the London Assembly, as well as examine specific 

budget and performance issues across the GLA Group. 

Proposed meeting timetable 

4.2 The following table sets out the scheduled future meetings of the Committee in 2019-20 that were 

agreed at the Assembly’s Annual Meeting on 2 May 2019. At its meeting on 1 July 2019, the GLA 

Oversight Committee agreed the topic for the Committee’s meeting in September 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 6



        

Date Topic 

Thursday 26 September 2019 Housing value for money in London 

Tuesday 26 November 2019 2020-21 Mayor’s Budget 

Tuesday 10 December 2019 2020-21 Mayor’s Budget 

Wednesday 11 December 2019 AM and 

PM 

2020-21 Mayor’s Budget 

Monday 6 January 2020 2020-21 Mayor’s Budget 

Tuesday 7 January 2020 2020-21 Mayor’s Budget 

Tuesday 10 March 2020 To be confirmed 

4.3 The Committee can agree topics for each meeting as the year progresses. 

Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee 

4.4 The Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee monitors GLA Group spending and performance and informs 

the work of the Budget and Performance Committee.  It will meet three more times during 2019/20.  

Meeting Date Proposed topic 

Wednesday 11 September To be confirmed 

Wednesday 4 December To be confirmed 

Wednesday 11 March To be confirmed 

 

4.5 As well as examining the GLA Group quarterly monitoring reports, the Sub-Committee will explore 

topical issues or specific areas contributing to the full Committee’s investigations or reports, where 

appropriate, and examine Mayoral Decisions. 

5 Legal Implications 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

6 Financial Implications 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

 

 

Page 84



        

 

List of appendices to this report:  None 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Gino Brand, Interim Senior Policy Adviser  

Telephone: 020 7983 5792 

Email: Gino.Brand@London.gov.uk    

 

Page 85

mailto:Gino.Brand@London.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 86


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Draft Minutes - Appendix 1 - TfL Capital Projects Delivery
	$$Minutes June
	Draft Minutes - Appendix 1 - OPDC Risks

	4 Summary List of Actions
	5 TfL Capital Projects Delivery
	6 Budget and Performance Committee Work Programme

